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Key financials

Result 

Balance Sheet

Finances und investments

Share

Employees

In EUR million/as indicated 1st half 2015 1st half 2014 Q2/2015 Q1/2015 Q2/2014

Revenue 1,501.0 1,444.7 752.5 748.5 727.2

Gross profit 377.8 373.0 186.4 191.4 190.5

EBITDA 175.1 173.1 89.1 86.0 87.6

EBIT 140.9 140.7 70.3 70.6 71.2

EBT 121.6 120.5 60.6 61.0 60.5

Group result from continued operations 111.1 114.5 54.9 56.2 57.1

Group result from discontinued operations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Group result 111.1 114.5 54.9 56.2 57.1

Earnings per share in EUR (diluted and undiluted) 0.86 0.89 0.42 0.44 0.44

In EUR million/as indicated 30.6.2015 30.6.2014 30.6.2015 31.3.2015 30.6.2014

Balance sheet total 2,464.7 2,469.5 2,464.7 2,512.1 2,469.5

Shareholders̀  equity 1,217.3 1,168.5 1,217.3 1,346.0 1,168.5

Equity ratio in per cent 49.4 47.3 49.4 53.6 47.3

In EUR million 1st half 2015 1st half 2014 Q2/2015 Q1/2015 Q2/2014

Free cash flow1 136.3 131.3 74.1 62.2 74.2

Depreciation and amortisation 34.2 32.4 18.8 15.5 16.4

Net investments (CAPEX) 14.9 10.5 6.6 8.3 4.7

Net debt2 500.3 545.3 500.3 373.6 545.3

30.6.2015 30.6.2014 30.6.2015 31.3.2015 30.6.2014

Closing price Xetra in EUR 30.22 23.23 30.22 28.08 23.23

Number of issued shares in ‘000s 128,061 128,061 128,061 128,061 128,061

Market capitalisation in EUR million 3,869.4 2,974.9 3,869.4 3,595.3 2,974.9

30.6.2015 30.6.2014 30.6.2015 31.3.2015 30.6.2014

Employees 4,611 4,904 4,611 4,713 4,904

KEY FINANCIALS 
GROUP OVERVIEW
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Key financials

1 Free cash flow (FCF) is defined as cash flow from operating activities minus investment in property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets, plus proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

2 At the end of period.

Customer development 

Result

Monthly average revenue per user (ARPU) 

In million 1st half 2015 1st half 2014 Q2/2015 Q1/2015 Q2/2014

Mobile Communications customers/cards2 12.38 12.99 12.38 12.54 12.99

Thereof Customer Ownership 9.11 8.84 9.11 9.04 8.84

Thereof Postpaid 6.16 5.90 6.16 6.10 5.90

Thereof No-frills 2.94 2.94 2.94 2.94 2.94

Thereof Prepaid 3.27 4.14 3.27 3.50 4.14

Gross new customers/cards 1.39 1.42 0.68 0.71 0.73

Net change -0.35 -0.31 -0.16 -0.19 -0.15

In EUR million 1st half 2015 1st half 2014 Q2/2015 Q1/2015 Q2/2014

Revenue 1,473.6 1,418.5 739.0 734.6 714.5

Gross profit 353.2 350.9 174.3 178.9 179.5

EBITDA 183.5 181.9 92.1 91.3 91.3

EBIT 154.8 154.4 76.2 78.6 77.5

In EUR 1st half 2015 1st half 2014 Q2/2015 Q1/2015 Q2/2014

Postpaid 21.2 21.4 21.4 21.1 21.5

No-frills 2.5 2.9 2.6 2.4 3.0

Prepaid 2.8 2.8 3.0 2.6 3.0

KEY FINANCIALS: 
OVERVIEW MOBILE 
COMMUNICATIONS SEGMENT
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From left to right: Joachim Preisig, CFO; Christoph Vilanek, CEO; Stephan Esch, CTO     
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For several years now, freenet AG has been implementing a cautious paradigm shift. As a 
mobile service provider, we are increasingly serving the attractive digital-lifestyle growth 
market with our products and services. At the same time, this paradigm shift towards 
smartphone and tablet-based applications such as home automation and home security,  
entertainment, health and data security is likewise taking place to an ever-increasing 
extent among consumers. This is shown in the findings of market surveys that we recently  
conducted among thousands of our own customers as well as those of competitors. 

The responses indicate that customers are particularly interested in the entertainment  
(54 per cent) and smart home (52 per cent) fields at the moment. This was the case among 
price-conscious users on the one hand, who take account of quality and service as well 
as price when signing contracts and making purchases, and bargain-hunters on the other.  
In other words, it was the case among almost the very same customer groups to whom we 
make a targeted pitch in our traditional key business segment of mobile communications: 
firstly with our main brand mobilcom-debitel for high-calibre contract customers with a  
pronounced need for advice and individual user profiles, and then with our discount brands 
for highly price-conscious smartphone users.

With this strategy we are managing to keep ARPU in the fiercely competitive mobile  
communications segment comparatively stable, despite the steady decline of ARPU in all 
market fields, and ensuring that freenet AG’s profitability is at a sustainably high level.  
At the same time, we are creating a second source of income for freenet AG with innovative 
products and services associated with the digital lifestyle field.

The figures for the second quarter of 2015 also confirm the positive developments in the 
preceding quarters and years:

 � The customer ownership figure, i.e. the number of customers in the postpaid and no-frills 
area, continues to increase: this key performance indicator of our company has grown 
again, this time by 68 thousand to 9.11 million in comparison to the previous quarter; espe-
cially the contained number of particularly valuable contract customers with 24-month 
contracts has risen the twelfth consecutive quarter to 6.16 million at the end of June 2015, 
which represents an increase of 67 thousand.

 � At the same time, postpaid ARPU again remained stable at 21.4 euros.

LETTER TO 
SHAREHOLDERS

To our shareholders: Letter to shareholders
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 � As a result of these developments and in addition because of increasing revenue in the 
digital lifestyle field, revenue has increased slightly over the comparative and previous 
quarter to the current total of 752.5 million euros. 

 � Gross profit likewise decreased compared with the second quarter of 2014, totalling  
186.4 million euros with a gross profit margin of 24.8 per cent. This is mainly due to higher 
activation numbers and the resultant increase in subscriber acquisition costs.

 � EBITDA improved slightly to 89.1 million euros, 1.7 per cent higher than in the  
comparative quarter in 2014 – despite the substantially increased investments in our cus-
tomer growth in recent months. 

 � Finally, the free cash flow is now located at the level of the comparable quarter with 74.1 
million euros. 

Based on the cumulative figures for the first half of 2015, namely EBITDA of 175.1 million 
euros and free cash flow of 136.3 million euros, we confirm our guidance for 2015 as a whole: 
EBITDA of about 370 million euros and free cash flow of around 280 million euros, accompa-
nied by further growth in customer ownership and by stable postpaid ARPU as well as stable 
revenue. At the same time, the results establish the foundation for our constant, sharehold-
er-value-oriented dividend policy that provides for a distribution comprising between 50 and 
75 per cent of the free cash flow. Accordingly, freenet AG’s Annual General Meeting in May 
passed a resolution to distribute dividends totalling 192.0 million euros; this corresponds to 
1.50 euros for each share entitled to dividends, or alternatively 72.1 per cent of the free cash 
flow from 2014.

Also in May, we took advantage of the current, highly favourable interest rate situation on 
the financial markets to carry out a partial refinancing with the aim of considerably reducing 
freenet AG’s annual interest burden in the years ahead. To do so, we took up three tranches 
of promissory notes with an aggregate value of 100.0 million euros, with terms of five to 
seven years and – to some extent variable – interest rates of between 1.05 and 1.79 per cent. 
Thanks to the revolving credit line totalling 300.0 million euros, which is still available in its 
entirety, our finances up until 2018 are generally, sound.

On the operational side we are also working prudently and continuously to make the  
company’s structures leaner and more efficient while simultaneously increasing the  
attractiveness of our product range. In the digital lifestyle field, for example, we have also 
been offering one of our most successful apps – the “Pocket Liga” (i.e. League) for football 
fans – since April, as well as a version for the new Apple Watch on the occasion of its market 
launch. In this way we are taking account of, not least, Apple’s continuing dominant market  
position as a premium manufacturer – while once again underlining our outstanding  
position as a digital lifestyle provider. In our outlets, customers find the widest possible  
selection of network operators and products covering all aspects of mobile communications 
and mobile internet. And this is accompanied by independent advice in our closely spaced  
network of mobilcom-debitel shops and GRAVIS stores, as well as our presence at around  
6,000 specialist trade partners and in large consumer electronic markets. 

To our shareholders: Letter to shareholders
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New offerings in the entertainment field, too, are designed to guarantee customers  
independence in their purchasing decisions. At our main brand mobilcom-debitel, the video 
option from maxdome and the music option from JUKE have also been available to custom-
ers without a mobilcom-debitel mobile communications contract since June. Our portfolio of 
digital lifestyle flats is currently being supplemented by “AudioBooks”. This means that users 
have access to around 30,000 German and/or foreign-language audiobook titles in return 
for a monthly fee of just under 10 euros, while for contract customers of mobilcom-debitel 
the price is reduced to just under 6 euros. 

In order to further increase the number of contract customers, freenet – as in the previous 
quarters – again carried out attractive special tariff-related promotions via special trading 
platforms. Based on the only very short-term conditions available for the respective offers, 
new customers were able to achieve savings of up to three euro-figures over the two-year 
contract period compared to the standard charges of our discount subsidiaries and the main 
brand mobilcom-debitel. As a result, our tariffs again occupied a diversity of top placements 
in tests for very different user profiles published in the trade journals. 

These campaigns are accompanied by new service offers for customers. They include, 
for example, individually bookable personal training sessions in the digital lifestyle area  
provided specifically for middle-aged and older age groups in the GRAVIS stores, as well as 
publications concerning data administration, hygiene and security or the relaunch of our 
freenet.de portal. In collaboration with users, we have now made our new online presence 
more up-to-date, more informative and more user-friendly.

We also launched two large-scale marketing campaigns at the end of June. One of these is the 
now traditional truck tour by mobilcom-debitel through German cities. For the fifth year in 
a row, two 15-metre trucks each fitted out with a large-scale LED wall, flat-screen TV, lounge 
area and integrated stage are going to draw attention to the digital lifestyle at top locations 
and events. The trucks provide a space for trying out the latest smartphones and tablets, 
wearables and apps in accordance with our umbrella campaign’s new motto “Macht was ihr 
wollt. Wir machen’s möglich” (“Do what you like. We make it possible.”) Supported by two 
accompanying VW “Bulli” minibuses, a variety of presentations, competitions and games at 
the tour locations give a substantial boost to buying frequency and revenue in our adjacent 
shops, as experience from previous years has shown. 

In addition, the “Summer Weeks” were launched, a sales campaign that will continue 
until the end of August 2015. The focus of these classic marketing measures is the sale of  
hardware products through TV commercials, online communication and a variety of on-site 
campaigns in the shops. 

To our shareholders: Letter to shareholders
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On top of that, we intend to give even more vigorous support to our own physical retail  
outlets in the future, as well as to particularly efficient and loyal specialised sales partners, 
and to manage them more efficiently and/or integrate them strategically. With this in mind, 
we set the course accordingly in the second quarter. Both distribution channels are now 
directly supervised by the same field sales force and thereby benefit from proven best-prac-
tice solutions within freenet AG and from streamlined procedures and coordination under 
the overall sales management. 

We are going to continue along this path of continuous improvement of our company’s  
products and services, processes and structures with prudence and determination in 
the second half of this year and beyond. This is because only outstanding products and  
services and lean and efficient processes will enable us to cement freenet’s strong position  
over the long haul in our fiercely competitive market environment. And we – the manage-
ment and employees of freenet AG – will continue to apply all of our expertise, strength and  
experience in order to achieve these goals again in the current financial year.

Christoph Vilanek Joachim Preisig Stephan Esch

To our shareholders: Letter to shareholders
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Capital market environment
Despite the persistent uncertainties flowing from 
the European financial crisis, the German bench-
mark index DAX, the EuroStoxx and the global share 
index MSCI World closed the first half of 2015 with  
significant gains. According to the German  
Bundesbank’s monthly report published in June, 
economic growth and the major central banks’  
interest rate policies played an important part in this 
development.

In the course of 2015 the Bundesbank is expecting to 
see solid economic growth that will manifest itself 
in an increase of 1.7 per cent in real gross domestic 
product. This development will be underpinned by 
domestic demand, which is benefiting from a positive 
labour market situation and sharp growth in incomes.  
In the Bundesbank’s opinion, the dampening 
effects arising from the current global economic  
situation are being countered by the depreciation of 
the euro and the solidifying economic recovery in the  
eurozone.

This confident overall picture is also reflected in 
German business sentiment. Surveys by the German 
Chamber of Industry and Commerce, the Ifo Institute 
for Economic Research and the Centre for European 
Economic Research indicate that German companies 
still regard their situation as positive.

Even so, the sharp drop in prices on the stock  
markets in the final days of June highlights the mood 
of investors and shows that the long-term effects 
of the European financial crisis on the currency 
union remain unclear. Investors with a medium-term  
orientation, however, have been behaving compara-
tively calmly recently.

The DAX reached the mid-year point with 10,945 
points, an increase of around 12 per cent compared 
with the beginning of the year. The TecDAX closed 
with 1,642 points, almost 20 per cent higher than six 
months before. 

FREENET AG 
ON THE CAPITAL MARKET

To our shareholders: freenet AG on the capital market
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The freenet share
In the second quarter, too, the freenet share price 
continued with its upward trend from the previous 
quarter. The share commenced the second quarter  
with a daily closing price of 28.26 euros on the  
electronic trading platform Xetra and continued to 
make dynamic progress. On 19 May – shortly before 
the Annual General Meeting – the share reached its 
quarterly and half-year high of 32.34 euros. Following 
a slight price markdown in the wake of the dividend 
payment, the share remained at around the 30 euro 
mark until the end of the quarter and closed on 30 
June at 30.22 euros. The average Xetra daily closing 
price in the reporting period was 30.08 euros.

In the second quarter, 36.3 million freenet shares 
were traded on Xetra compared with 37.1 million 
in the first quarter of 2015 and 38.1 million in the 
second quarter of 2014. The proportion of shares 
traded via alternative trading venues (“dark pools”)  
decreased to 38 per cent of the entire trading vol-
ume in the second quarter (previous quarter: 41 per 
cent). The average daily Xetra trading volume in the  

reporting period amounted to some 595 thousand 
shares, compared to around 588 thousand in the 
previous quarter and around 605 thousand in the 
corresponding quarter last year. 

The freenet share price increased by 7.6 per cent in 
the second quarter, outperforming the benchmark 
index TecDAX, which only increased by 1.7 per cent 
in the same period. The SXKP Index, in which the 
European telecoms shares are contained, remained 
at its previous level. 

In the 12-months comparison, the freenet share 
price rose by 30.1 per cent, thereby acting rather 
more dynamically than the TecDAX, which was up 
by 25.5 per cent in the same period. The SXKP Index  
increased by 22.7 per cent.

At the end of the second quarter of 2015, the freenet 
share occupied fourth place in the TecDAX in terms 
of market capitalisation and fifth place with regard 
to trading volume.

To our shareholders: freenet AG on the capital market

Figure 1: 12-months performance of the freenet share 
(Indexed; 100 = Xetra closing price on 30 June 2014)
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Dividend
Subsequent to the Annual General Meeting on 21 May 
2015, the agreed dividend of 1.50 euros for each share 
entitled to dividends was paid out. This corresponds 

to a dividend payout ratio of 72.1 per cent of the free 
cash flow in 2014. 

Analyst recommendations
Table 1: Current recommendations for the freenet share*

Bankhaus Lampe Hold 25.00 Euro

Berenberg Hold 21.00 Euro

Citi Research Sell 21.00 Euro

Commerzbank Buy 33.00 Euro

Deutsche Bank Hold 32.00 Euro

DZ-Bank Research Buy 31.00 Euro

equinet-Bank Buy 35.00 Euro

Hauck & Aufhäuser Hold 30.00 Euro

HSBC Global Research Hold 30.00 Euro

Independent Research Hold 31.00 Euro

Landesbank Baden-Württemberg Buy 32.00 Euro

Metzler Equity Research Buy 27.00 Euro

Oddo Seydler Buy 34.00 Euro

UBS Investment Research Hold 27.80 Euro

Warburg Research Hold 28.00 Euro

*As of: 30 June 2015.

To our shareholders: freenet AG on the capital market
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Shareholder structure

freenet AG’s share capital totals 128,061,016 euros 
and is divided into 128,061,016 no-par-value bearer 
shares. Each share represents 1.00 euro of the share 
capital. 

According to the voting rights disclosures received 
pursuant to Section 21 of the German Securities 
Trading Act (WpHG), freenet’s shareholder structure 
changed as follows during the reporting period:

■■ In April, BlackRock (USA) informed us that it 
had exceeded the 3 per cent reporting thresh-
old. Its share of the voting rights in freenet AG on  
14 April amounted to 3.01 per cent (3,851,546 vot-
ing rights).

■■ In April, BlackRock (USA) informed us that it had 
fallen below the 3 per cent reporting threshold. 
Its share of the voting rights in freenet AG on  
16 April amounted to 2.98 per cent (3,821,543 vot-
ing rights).

■■ In May, Capital Group (USA) informed us that it 
had exceeded the 3 per cent reporting threshold. 

Its share of the voting rights in freenet AG on  
15 May amounted to 3.70 per cent (4,741,076 vot-
ing rights).

■■ In May, Flossbach von Storch (Germany) informed 
us that it had fallen below the 3 per cent report-
ing threshold. Its share of the voting rights in 
freenet AG on 19 May amounted to 2.63 per cent 
(3,365,500 voting rights).

■■ In May, Capital Income Builder (USA) informed 
 us that it had exceeded the 3 per cent reporting 
threshold. Its share of the voting rights in freenet 
AG on 19 May amounted to 3.26 per cent (4,180,133 
voting rights).

■■ In June, BlackRock (USA) informed us that it had 
exceeded the 3 per cent reporting threshold. 
Its share of the voting rights in freenet AG on  
10 June amounted to 3.08 per cent (3,940,155 vot-
ing rights).

As a result, the shareholder structure of freenet AG 
on 30 June 2015 was as follows:

Figure 2: Current shareholder structure 

Based on the voting rights disclosures received during the quarter under review, free float has decreased from 
87.15 per cent by 6.78 percentage points to 80.37 percent.

1	   5.16 %	 Allianz Global Investors GmbH*

2	   3.08 %	 Black Rock, Inc.*

3	   4.65 %	 Deutsche Asset & Wealth Investment GmbH*

4	   3.04 %	 Flossbach von Storch AG*

5	   3.70 %	 The Capital Group Companies, Inc.*

6	 80.37%	 Other shareholders / free float**

* Including attributions according to German Securities Trading Act.
** The free float according to Deutsche Börse AG amounts to 94.84%. 

To our shareholders: freenet AG on the capital market
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ECONOMIC REPORT

Business performance
As an independent mobile service provider, freenet 
AG serves the growing digital lifestyle market with 
integrated product environments, customer-ori-
ented services and affordable mobile tariffs for all of  
Germany’s mobile communications networks. The 
portfolio encompasses the company’s own tariffs 
and services in the traditional business segment 
of mobile communications/mobile internet and  
corresponding services from network operators in 
Germany. In addition to this, the company offers 
innovative digital applications relating to home auto-
mation and security, health, data security, entertain-
ment and infotainment – including the latest smart-
phones, tablets and notebooks as terminals and 
attractive accessories. 

Private customers make up their key target group as an 
integral part of a multi-brand strategy. In view of the 
intense level of competition in the industry, the main 
brand, mobilcom-debitel, concentrates primarily on 
high-quality contractual relationships when acquiring 
customers and managing existing ones, while  
freenet’s discount brands cover the no-frills field. 

In the second quarter of 2015, the company contin-
ued to pursue its successful strategy in the fields of  
digital lifestyle, mobile communications and mobile 
internet, and further enhanced its products, services 
and activities in these areas.

Expansion of the  
digital-lifestyle spectrum

“Pocket Liga” has been one of freenet’s most successful  
apps for years – and in the meantime has gathered  
around a million downloads and numerous top  
rankings in independent tests. Since April, on the 
occasion of its marketing launch, users have now also 
been able to get their hands on a suitably enhanced 

version for the new Apple Watch. It offers a complete 
overview of all results, goal scorers and tables in the 
most important leagues and international competi-
tions. With the help of a live ticker and a vibration 
alarm, a wrist display shows where and by whom 
goals were scored and what impact this has on the 
current league tables. The user’s guidance on using 
the watch and the needs of football fans are taken 
optimally into account and brought together.

Since this spring, a version of the smartpen “Live-
scribe 3” for smartphones and tablets with an android 
system has likewise been available. The smartpen can 
be used to digitalise, search and share handwritten 
notes, as well as to create “pencasts” – interactive 
PDF files that synchronise audio recordings with 
the digital handwriting. For digitalised handwrit-
ten notes, special paper formats with tiny printed 
points or notebooks from Moleskine developed 
especially for this purpose are required. The GRAVIS  
stores offer the Livescribe 3 in two different versions –  
and on favourable terms at 150 euros and 200 euros  
respectively. 

mobilcom-debitel for its part has been offering  
access to around 30,000 audio books since  
mid-June for the first time with its “AudioBooks”  
service. It is also open to customers without a linked  
mobilcom-debitel mobile communications contract 
for a monthly charge of 9.99 euros; for mobilcom 
debitel contract customers, the price is reduced 
to 5.99 euros per month. The service will be avail-
able free of charge in a test phase scheduled to 
run until the end of August 2015, and thereafter it 
can be cancelled on a monthly basis. Its users can 
choose from 10,000 German audio books and a fur-
ther 20,000 foreign-language titles in e.g. English,  
Spanish or Turkish.

 Interim group management report: Economic report
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The Audiobook Flat complements the portfolio 
of existing digital-lifestyle flats from mobilcom- 
debitel, which can now likewise be booked without a  
mobilcom-debitel mobile communications contract. 
These include: 

 � the video option provided by the supplier  
maxdome which offers unlimited access to more 
than 50,000 films and series and can be played on 
a tablet, smartphone or PC, 

 � The music option from JUKE with more than 30 
million songs, a search and suggest function and 
playlists that can be created separately and also 
listened to offline. 

The Video Flat costs 7.99 euros per month, the 
Music Flat 9.49 euros; both options can likewise be 
used free of charge until the end of August and can  
therefore be thoroughly tested and without any risk 
for the user. 

Special campaigns for tariffs  

In the second quarter, as in the previous months, 
freenet highlighted its digital-lifestyle product  
offensive with particularly favourable tariff offers 
in association with its main and discount brands.  
In general, these can be booked on a short-term 
and time-limited basis via the company’s own  
trading platform www.crash-tarife.de or comparable  
platforms. 

 � April began with the Allnet Flat from mobilcom- 
debitel – with telephone and SMS Flat and 1 GB 
data volume in the D1 network. The monthly 
charge of 14.85 euros in the first contractual year 
and 29.85 euros in the second without any fur-
ther non-recurring costs is considerably lower 
than the comparable network operator’s tariff. 
In addition, for example, the data tariff Internet 
Flat 5000 was reduced – with 5 GB unrestricted 
inclusive volume and a special bonus of 1 GB for 
high-speed LTE bandwidth up to 50 Mbit/s – by 10 
euros per month to 19.99 euros. Furthermore, the 
Internet Flat 3000 with 3 GB high-speed volume 
was reduced to 9.99 euros per month in the first 
contractual year and to 19.99 euros in the second 
contractual year. For frequent internet users who 
do not use the phone much, the Smart Surf was 
reduced to 3.99 euros per month. The tariff offers 
1 GB data volume and 50 free call minutes and 
text messages respectively per month in the O2  
network.

 � May was shaped by a number of promotions  
featuring the discount subsidiary klarmobil. The 

Allnet Starter, for example, was on offer for 3.95 
euros instead of the regular 9.95 euros per month. 
It offers 100 call minutes, 100 text messages and 
400 MB of unlimited data volume in the Vodafone 
network; in the D1 variant the monthly charge 
is 6.95 euros. And the AllNet Spar Flat – with 
free calls into all the national networks, 3,000 
text messages and 1,000 MB data volume with 
maximum bandwidth – was halved to 14.85 euros 
per month.

 � In June, klarmobil then optimised its offers again 
with the AllNet Spar Flat in the D1 network; the 
tariff contains free calls and text messages into 
all of the German networks and a doubled data 
volume of 500 MB. 

Individualised service offers

For a mobile service provider, the best possible 
customer care is one of the essential elements of 
business operations. In providing this, freenet AG 
utilises a whole range of interfaces, such as the 
Group’s approximately 570 mobilcom-debitel shops 
and 45 GRAVIS stores, together with around 6,000 
retail and sales partners including large-scale con-
sumer electronics outlets, but also – needless to say 

– online channels, social networks and direct dialogue 
via apps, chats, telephone or letter. 

This framework includes, for example, interactive 
advisory solutions in the company’s own shops in 
the form of video walls or “solution desks”, where 
customers can test functional product samples and 
have them explained for their particular require-
ments by way of radio frequency identification (RFID 
tags) and reading devices.

In addition, GRAVIS launched further personal training  
sessions in its stores in the second quarter for the 

“Generation 55plus” – i.e. for customers whose 
dealings with digital lifestyle lack the automatic 
ease and lightness of touch customary among 
younger users. The courses, which are geared towards  
customers’ individual wishes, cover, among other 
things, e-mail, office and photo programs, and 
questions about Skype and iTunes, the app store 
and/or cloud solutions. In a separate April special, 
iPad and MacBook buyers received 60 minutes of free  
personal training.

Also in April, mobilcom-debitel published a free 
“spring cleaning” guide for the PC and laptop and 
for data hygiene on the hard disk and in the cloud.  
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This concerns, first of all, the cleaning of hardware, 
i.e. casing, keyboard, mouse and screen. A particularly  
crucial aspect, additionally, is “tidying up” the 
hard disk, i.e. obvious waste, junk and clutter data 
in the form of duplicated or obsolete data can be  
deleted manually, while tools such as WinOptimizer or  
CCleaner do the same for software that is no longer 
required. Windows also offers special data-carrier 
cleaning, thereby creating additional storage space, 
while the regular defragmentation of files short-
ens the data access process. In addition, the “Smart 
Organizer” on the mobilcom-debitel cloud structures 
all of the respective user’s data and documents from 
the outset – which simplifies the annual spring clean 
and data clean-up quite substantially. 

Relaunch of the freenet.de portal

Another step towards the best possible service for 
customers was made by the relaunch of the freenet.
de portal in April. Its focal point was improved user 
guidance, a process that the portal’s users were  
integrated into from the start. Based on surveys by 
the consumer research organisation GfK, freenet 
developed a prototype that users tested time and 
again up until the actual start and devised their own  
suggestions for. As a result, the new portal now 
attaches even greater importance to topicality and 
dependability and its news area contains more  
topical information than before from the fields 
of news, sport, finance, business politics, motor-
ing, entertainment, lifestyle, digital and games.  
A navigation function guides users with precision 
into the various channels’ magazine environments. 

All of the programs, moreover, are designed optimally 
and prepared comprehensively for both stationary 
and mobile use. Above all, the mobile e-mail service 
was improved again, anyone who uses the freenet 
e-mail mailbox can now also send and receive smart-
phone-optimised e-mails while on the move and 
access his or her contacts in the process. E-mails 
sent through other providers, moreover, can simply 
be integrated via a POP3 collection function.

Continuation of the  
mobilcom-debitel truck tour …

At the beginning of June, mobilcom-debitel again 
went on its well-established tour of Germany – 
already on its fifth tour in a row. Two 15-metre trucks – 
equipped with a large-scale LED wall, flat-screen 

TV, touchscreen, a lounge area and integrated screen –  
are heading for 77 German towns and cities and 
seven large-scale events by way of various routes 
until 6 September; highlights of the tour will be the 
Out4Fame music festival near Bottrop, Bochum Total, 
the Gamescom in Cologne, the IFA in Berlin and the 
Urbanathlon in Hamburg. The trucks are accompanied 
by two VW minibuses branded in mobilcom-debitel 
green – so-called “Bullis”, which in the meantime 
have acquired real cult status. 

As in the previous years, the truck tour is designed 
to make digital lifestyle immediate and tangible in 
the localities with the help of the relevant prod-
ucts. Under this year’s motto “Macht was ihr wollt. 
Wir machen’s möglich” (“Do what you like. We make 
it possible.”), the latest devices and gadgets such 
as smartphones, wearables and apps can be tried 
out on the trucks, while the stage provides space 
for presentations and for competitions and games 
with instant prizes. As the product experience is in 
the foreground, anyone who is interested can also  
borrow sets containing the latest smartphones,  
headphones, fitness tools or selfie sticks and test 
them alone to their heart’s content. 

Parallel to that, the promotion teams in their VW 
“Bullis” carry out guerilla marketing activities as 
well as further games – for example a sound recog-
nition contest by app for which instant prizes again 
beckon. A highlight of these promotions is provided 
by drone-selfies – user-generated content from an 
extraordinary perspective that is furnished with 
hashtags and shown via mobilcom-debitel’s social 
channels. In addition, the promoters by the vehi-
cles and in the immediate surroundings of adja-
cent mobilcom-debitel-shops hand out tickets for 
more prizes such as the Sony Xperia Z2; these must 
be redeemed directly on-site and thereby provide  
the shops with additional frequency. 

... and the start of the “Summer Weeks”

At the end of the second quarter, mobilcom-debitel  
launched a clearance sale. The sale of hardware  
products is the primary concern of the “Summer 
Weeks”, which are scheduled to last until the end 
of August 2015. At the beginning of the last week 
in June, for example, the Samsung Galaxy Grand 
Prime was on sale at a preferential price of 149 euros.  
The slim smartphone has a 5-megapixel front camera 
with a wide-angle lens for high-resolution selfies or 
group self-portraits, an 8-megapixel camera plus LED 
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Key drivers of the business development
Customer development

Table 2: Development of Mobile Communications customers

 
In million 30.6.2015 31.3.2015 31.12.2014 30.9.2014 30.6.2014

Mobile Communications customers/cards 12.38 12.54 12.73 12.83 12.99

Thereof Customer Ownership 9.11 9.04 8.92 8.90 8.84

Thereof Postpaid 6.16 6.10 6.01 5.97 5.90

Thereof No-frills 2.94 2.94 2.91 2.93 2.94

Thereof Prepaid 3.27 3.50 3.81 3.93 4.14

In the interests of its strategic commercial alignment 
as a digital lifestyle provider, freenet continues to 
focus on high-quality customer relationships when 
acquiring new customers and managing existing cus-
tomers. Despite a market environment characterised 
by persistently fierce competition, the sustainable 
success of this strategy is manifesting itself in another 
increase in the non-financial key performance indi-
cator customer ownership. Compared to 30 June 
2014, this increased by 264 thousand participants or 
3.0 per cent to its current level of 9.11 million. Com-
pared to 31 March 2015, this constitutes an increase 
of around 68 thousand participants or 0.8 per cent.

The upward trend originates primarily from the 
increase in the postpaid customer portfolio, in which 
all of the mobile communications contracts with a 
term of 24 months that are marketed in the Group 
are consolidated. In the year-on-year comparison, 
this strategically significant customer group showed  
disproportionately robust growth of 261 thousand  

participants or 4.4 per cent, taking its total to 
6.16 million. Compared to 31 March 2015, this  
constitutes an increase of around 67 thousand  
participants or 1.1 per cent.

In the no-frills field, which encompasses all other 
of the mobile communications tariffs sold through 
Group’s discount brands, the customer portfolio 
increased slightly year-on-year by 3 thousand partic-
ipants or 0.1 per cent. Compared to 31 March 2015, 
the customer portfolio has remained constant at  
2.94 million participants.

The number of prepaid SIM cards in circulations that 
were to be marketed via the main brand mobilcom- 
debitel declined further to a final total of 3.27  
million during the quarter under review. This fur-
ther decrease is the result of inactive SIM cards  
being deactivated by the network operators  
(technical churn).

flash on the reverse side for video recordings or snap-
shots, a brilliant 5-inch qHD touchscreen display and 
a 1.2 GHz quad-core processor.

The “Summer Weeks” campaign with a gross volume 
of more than 15 million euros encompasses classical  
marketing activities such as TV commercials, compre-
hensive online communication and a variety of activ-
ities at the POS. Within the scope of the campaign, 
all of the shops and business partners of mobilcom- 
debitel who are involved receive, among other things, 
suitable practical aids such as offer-related leaflets, 
stand-up displays and shop-window stickers aimed 
primarily at new customers.

Streamlining the sales structure

mobilcom-debitel is going to intensify its future coop-
eration with particularly efficient and loyal specialist 
trading partners – known as the LPP-plus partners. 
The objective of this is to remove the separation 
that has prevailed until now between these traders 
and the company’s own and/or directly controlla-
ble shops, with the result that both sales channels 
benefit equally from tried-and-tested best-practice 
solutions in the Group. They are now looked after by 
the same field sales force. In the form of the “partner 
agencies”, mobilcom-debitel is introducing a distribu-
tion level that is located between the just over 200 
franchise shops and the LPP-plus partners.
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Monthly average revenue per user (ARPU)

Table 3: Development of ARPU

 

In EUR Q2/2015 Q1/2015 Q4/2014 Q3/2014 Q2/2014

Postpaid 21.4 21.1 21.1 21.7 21.5

No-frills 2.6 2.4 2.5 2.9 3.0

Prepaid 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.1 3.0

The average monthly revenue per customer in 
the postpaid customer field grew to 21.4 euros 
in the second quarter of 2015, 0.3 euros higher 
than in the previous quarter. In comparison with 
the previous year, postpaid ARPU remained  
virtually stable. The development of ARPU in 
recent quarters clearly demonstrates the positive 
effects that have emerged from the acquisition  
of high-value customers and consequently from 
this strategic business orientation in the mobile  
communications segment.

 
 
 
 
 
 
The average monthly revenue of 2.6 euros generated 
in the no-frills customer field is 0.2 euros above the 
previous quarter’s level. No-frills ARPU is reported at 
0.4 euros lower than in the second quarter of 2014.

Prepaid ARPU increased by 0.4 euros to 3.0 euros in 
the second quarter of 2015, thereby returning to its 
level of the corresponding quarter last year.

Management system

Financial and non-financial 
performance indicators

In its strategic alignment, the Executive Board of  
freenet AG orients itself towards the interests of all  
stakeholders. To implement this, a standardised 
management system is used at the highest Group 
level and in the freenet Group’s individual compa-
nies, where it draws on financial and non-financial 
control parameters. These financial performance 
indicators are of particular relevance for the control 
function:

 � Revenue,
 � EBITDA,
 � Free cash flow,
 � Postpaid ARPU.

Furthermore, the Executive Board has defined this 
non-financial performance indicator:

 � Customer Ownership.

Taking account of the continuous expansion of our 
digital lifestyle activities in line with our key corpo-
rate strategy, we constantly check the composition 
of all our internal control parameters and will adjust 
these whenever a relevant necessity is identified.  
Compared to the previous year, only clarifying 
adjustments were carried out, with the performance  
indicator “customer ownership” being reported 

henceforth as a non-financial performance indicator. 
This did not lead to an adjustment in the manage-
ment system. 

Other control parameters

As well as key financial and non-financial perfor-
mance indicators, other control parameters are used 
in the Group’s management. These other control 
parameters are of minor significance compared with 
the financial and non-financial performance indicators. 
The following other control parameters, in particular, 
are used as indicators for controlling purposes and 
as benchmarks for the further development of the 
freenet Group:

 � Product brands, new products,
 � Sales activities,
 � Partnerships,
 � Research and development,
 � Employees.

As at the end of the second quarter 2015, the number 
of employees declined to 4,611 compared to 4,713 at 
the end of the first quarter 2015 and to 4,904 at the 
end of the second quarter 2014. The decline results 
mainly from structural measures to optimise business 
performance processes.
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Assets, earnings and financial position
Revenue and earnings position

Table 4:  The Group’s key performance indicators

In EUR `000s Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Change

Revenue 752,537 727,222 25,315

Gross profit 186,359 190,533 -4,174

Overhead costs -97,271 -102,899 5,628

EBITDA 89,088 87,634 1,454

EBIT 70,332 71,192 -860

EBT 60,618 60,501 117

Group result 54,910 57,074 -2,164

group revenue increased by 3.5 per cent in the sec-
ond quarter of 2015 compared with the same period 
of the previous year. This was achieved first and 
foremost as a result of the significant growth in the 
customer ownership base (9.11 million customers as 
at the end of June 2015 compared with 8.84 million 
customers as at the end of June 2014) accompanied 
by almost constant postpaid ARPU (21.4 euros in Q2 
2015 compared with 21.5 euros in Q2 2014), and as a 
consequence of higher revenue in the digital lifestyle  
field.

The gross profit margin  declined by 1.4 percent-
age points compared with Q2 2014 and totalled 24.8 
per cent. gross profit was 4.2 million euros lower 
than in the same quarter last year at 186.4 million 
euros – mainly as a result of the higher activation 
numbers that caused the increase in subscriber 
acquisition costs. 

overhead expenses  – which constitute the differ-
ence between gross profit and EBITDA and include 
the items other operating income, other own 
work capitalised, personnel expenses, other 
operating expenses and the share of results 
of associates accounted for using the equity 
method fell by 5.6 million euros compared with Q2 
2014, mainly as a result of increased efficiency in 
overhead expenses management.

The Group result from continued operations before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation 
(ebitda) in the quarter under review 2015 came to 
89.1 million euros, 1.5 million euros above the level in 
the comparative quarter last year.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
depreciation and amortisation increased by 2.3 
million euros to 18.8 million euros compared with the 
second quarter of 2014. As in the previous year, these 
were accounted for primarily by distribution rights, 
intangible assets in relation to purchase price alloca-
tions from corporate acquisitions, and internally gen-
erated software.

The interest result as the balance of interest 
income and interest expenses improved in the quar-
ter under review by 1.0 million euros compared with 
the comparative quarter last year to -9.7 million 
euros. As in the previous year, net interest expenses 
largely comprised the corporate bond with a nominal 
value of 400.0 million euros.

As a result of the effects outlined above, the group’s 
pre-tax earnings (ebt) totalled 60.6 million euros, 
a slight increase of 0.1 million euros compared to the 
previous year.

income tax expenses totalling 5.7 million euros were 
reported for Q2 2015 (Q2 2014: 3.4 million euros). This 
figure resulted from the offsetting of current income 
tax expenses in the amount of 8.0 million euros (pre-
vious year: 7.2 million euros) against deferred tax 
income, primarily from the write-up of deferred tax 
assets from tax loss carryforwards totalling 2.3 mil-
lion euros (previous year: 3.8 million euros).

The group profit reported for the second quarter 
of 2015 resulted solely from continuing operations, as 
in the corresponding quarter last year, and amounted 
to 54.9 million euros. This represents a slight fall of 
2.2 million euros compared with the 57.1 million euros 
earned during the comparative quarter in 2014.
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Assets and financial position

Table 5: Selected Group balance sheet figures 

Assets Shareholders‘ equity and liabilities
In EUR million 30.6.2015 In EUR million 30.6.2015

Non-current assets 1,867.0 Shareholders’ equity 1,217.3

Current assets 597.6 Non-current and current liabilities 1,247.3

Total assets 2,464.7 Total equity and liabilities 2,464.7

In EUR million 31.3.2015 In EUR million 31.3.2015

Non-current assets 1,881.6 Shareholders’ equity 1,346.0

Current assets 630.5 Non-current and current liabilities 1,166.1

Total assets 2,512.1 Total equity and liabilities 2,512.1

As at 30 June 2015, the balance sheet total amoun-
ted to 2,464.7 million euros, having decreased by 
47.4 million euros (1.9 per cent) since 31 March 2015 
(2,512.1 million euros).

On the asset side, non-current assets decreased  
by 14.6 million euros. This was due largely to a 
decrease of 11.2 million euros in intangible assets to 
385.7 million euros, which in turn resulted primarily 
from a combination of ongoing amortisation and a 
low level of new investment.

Within current assets, there was a notable 26.3 mil-
lion euros increase in trade accounts receivables to 
373.3 million euros. This increase can be associated 
on the one hand with the lower factoring volume for 
mobile option receivables compared to 31 March 2015, 
in connection with which we refer to note 3 in the 
selected explanatory notes in accordance with IAS 34. 
On the other hand, the increase results partly from the 
well-known seasonal effect of the annual bonuses acc-
ruals vis-a-vis network operators and retailers. 

The decrease of 48.9 million euros in cash and cash 
equivalents to 124.1 million euros is primarily the 
result of the dividend payout amounting to 192.0 
million euros as well as the annual payment of  
interest on the corporate bond amounting to 28.5 
million euros, while the cash flow generated from 
operating activities in the amount of 80.7 million 
euros and the taking up of the promissory note loan 
amounting to 99.4 million euros had a positive effect 
on cash and cash equivalents.

On the equity and liabilities side, gross borrowing 
increased by 77.8 million euros to 624.4 million euros 
compared with 31 March 2015, a development which 
resulted largely from the taking up of a promissory 
note loan of 99.4 million euros in the quarter under 
review. On the other hand, the financial liabilities ari-
sing from the corporate bond were reduced primarily 
by the company’s annual interest payment on that 
bond in April. The corporate bond, which is due in 
April 2016, will be reported under current liabilities 
as at the end of June 2015 in the amount of 404.6 
million euros.

The decrease of 11.8 million euros to 53.5 million 
euros in pension provisions is connected with the 
increase of 0.9 percentage points in the actuarial 
interest rate since 31 March 2015. 

Trade accounts payable increased by 18.7 million 
euros to 373.2 million euros – the main reason for 
this were higher liabilities to network operators as 
at the reporting date. 

Due to payments for previous years, current income 
tax liabilities decreased by 9.8 million euros. 

The equity ratio declined from 53.6 per cent as at 
the end of March 2015 to 49.4 per cent as at the end 
of June 2015, mainly due to the dividend payout in 
the second quarter. This was also the main reason 
for the increase in net debt, which as at 30 June 
2015 totalled 500.3 million euros (31 March 2015: 
373.6 million euros).
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Cash flow

Table 6:  The Group’s key cash flow indicators

In EUR million Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Change

Cash flow from operating activities 80.7 78.8 1.8

Cash flow from investing activities -6.5 -4.3 -2.2

Cash flow from financing activities -123.1 -215.9 92.8

Change in cash and cash equivalents -48.9 -141.4 92.5

Free cash flow1 74.1 74.2  -0.1

In the second quarter of 2015, cash flow from 
operating activities is reported as 80.7 million 
euros, which equates to a year-on-year increase of  
1.8 million euros. As well as a slight increase in 
EBITDA, the decrease of 10.0 million euros in net 
working capital had a positive impact on cash flow 
from operating activities, while in the comparative 
quarter last year net working capital increased by  
2.7 million euros – which explains the overall effect 
of 12.6 million euros. A contrary effect arises from 
the fact that tax payments have increased compared 
to Q2 2014 by 12.3 million euros to 18.3 million euros. 

cash flow from investing activities amounted to 
-6.5 million euros in Q2 2015, compared to -4.3 mil-
lion euros in the second quarter of 2014; it consisted 
mainly of investments in internally developed soft-
ware and office equipment.

  

 
In the quarter under review, cash flow from financ-
ing activities totalled -123.1 million euros compared 
with -215.9 million euros in the same period last year. 
The dividend payout increased by 6.4 million euros 
from 185.6 million euros in the second quarter of 2014 
to 192.0 million euros in the reporting period. On the 
other hand, the Group received 99.4 million euros in 
the second quarter of 2015 from the taking up of a 
promissory note loan. 

As a consequence of the effects described above, 
free cash flow totalling 74.1 million euros was  
generated in the second quarter of 2015 – an amount 
similar to that of the comparative period last year 
(74.2 million euros). 
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Financial Management
Strategic corporate management is underpinned by 
focused financial management, with the capital struc-
ture and liquidity development being performance 
indicators. The strategy is implemented operationally 
by means of a comprehensive treasury management 
system based on established controlling structures.

The capital structure is managed primarily via finan-
cial KPIs comprising debt factor, the interest cover 
and the equity ratio. Debt factor indicates how much 
of the current operating result (EBITDA) would be 

needed to pay off the company’s net debt (borrowing 
less cash and cash equivalents). Interest cover is the 
ratio of EBITDA to the interest balance.

In the following overview, the financial management 
KPIs are depicted as currently constituted and com-
pared with the corresponding period last year. For 
period-related variables such as EBITDA and net inte-
rest result, the last 12 months (i.e. July 2014 to June 
2015 and, for the previous year, July 2013 to June 2014) 
were taken into account in each case.

Table 7: Key figures of financial management

Q2/2014 Target 2014/15 Q2/2015 Target 2015/16

Debt factor 1.5 1.0 – 2.5 1.4 1.0.– 2.5

Interest Cover 8.4 > 5 9.3 > 5

Equity ratio (in per cent) 47.3 > 50 49.4 > 50
 

At 1.4, debt factor remains in the lower portion of the 
strategic range of 1.0 to 2.5. Borrowings are domi-
nated by the corporate bond with a nominal value of 
400.0 million euros due in April 2016. 

At 9.3, interest cover is slightly higher than in Q2 
2014 (8.4) as a result of the twelve month comparison 
increase in EBITDA, accompanied by a slight decrease 
in the interest burden, and therefore remains well 
above the target.

The equity ratio as at 30 June 2015 is just slightly 
below the target level of 50 per cent. The increase 
compared with the previous year’s cut-off date stem-
med primarily from the Group’s positive results situ-
ation. It must be noted that the equity ratio generally 
reaches its lowest level in the quarterly comparison 
after the dividend payout is made in the second quar-
ter, with the result that in the subsequent quarters, 
we work on the assumption that this indicator will 
increase until the next dividend payout.
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NACHTRAGSBERICHT

Dividend policy

freenet AG is continuing successfully with the  
current dividend policy that was agreed with the 
Supervisory Board at the beginning of the financial 
year 2013 and is distributing 72.1 per cent of the free 
cash flow reported for the financial year 2014. The 
dividend payout is therefore again within the scope of 
the 50 to 75 per cent ratio of the company’s free cash 
inflow that is provided for. The dividend amounting 
to 1.50 euros per share entitled to dividends (previous 
year: 1.45 euros) was paid out on 22 May 2015. 

In the future, too, freenet AG would like to let its 
shareholders share in the company’s success in 
accordance with a sustainable development of  
business and with effective continuity of dividends. 
With this in mind, the financial strategy has been 
structured in such a way that on the basis of strong 
cash flow, it provides shareholders with an attractive 
dividend and outside creditors with investment  
conditions of lasting solidity – as well as financing of 
the company’s strategic goals. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER 
THE REPORTING DATE

 Interim group management report: Significant events after the reporting date

Figure 3:  Key figures of dividend policy

There were no events after the balance sheet date which were of significant importance to the freenet Group.
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Opportunities
In order to manage and monitor its ongoing busi-
ness activities, the Executive Board has established 
an extensive monthly reporting system that covers 
both the financial and non-financial performance 
indicators in the Group. In regular meetings with 
all of the relevant business segments and units, the 
Executive Board informs itself in a timely manner 
about operational developments. At these meetings, 
not only current themes, but also future internal 
and external developments, measures and potential 
opportunities are discussed. The identification, ana-
lysis and communication of the opportunities, as well 
as their exploitation, is a commercial (management) 
task that is performed by the Executive Board, the 
responsible managers in the individual business seg-
ments and units, and the relevant decision-makers in 
a process of permanent communication.

In 2015, freenet AG and its subsidiaries continued 
systematically with their strategy as a digital lifes-
tyle provider by focusing on mobile voice and data 
services and on the marketing of digital lifestyle pro-
ducts. In the marketing of smartphones and flat-rate 
tariffs, the focus of commercial activity was mainly 
on customer quality and the stabilisation of the con-
tract customer base. Over and above this, a great 
deal of emphasis continued to be put on the digital 
lifestyle business. In addition to the integration of 
freenet digital into the freenet Group, the marketing 
of SmartHome products and digital lifestyle options, 
such as md Cloud, mload Plus or Norton Mobile Secu-
rity, was strengthened. As the largest network-inde-
pendent mobile service provider with focus on digi-
tal lifestyle, the freenet Group is going to continue 
along this successful path and make use of oppor-
tunities against the backdrop of a strict orientation 
towards stakeholder value.

freenet AG sees external opportunities particularly 
in the following market trends:

 � Increasing readiness of customers to pay for 
mobile communications terminals

 � Trend towards mobile internet and data usage via 
smartphones and tablet PCs

 � Trend towards more expensive terminals (smart-
phones) and concomitant increased use, and/or 
associated selling of flat-rate products

 � Trend towards the interconnection of products 
(“Internet of Things”, “integrated product land-
scapes”)

Due to the continuing trend towards paying for 
mobile communications terminals and the expansion 
of mobile internet and data usage, the increasing 
prevalence of smartphones, and the interconnection 
of products – this could have a positive impact on the 
anticipated development of revenue, EBITDA and the 
free cash flow. Furthermore, the effects of the trend 
towards mobile internet and data usage and the asso-
ciated trend towards expensive flat-rate products 
could lead to a more positive increase in customer 
ownership than expected, although overall, the latter 
tends to be regarded as rather improbable.

Internal opportunities for freenet AG could emerge 
in particular from:

 � the assessment and implementation of strategic 
options in the field of mobile communications and 
digital lifestyle,

 � the continuous intensification of business  
relationships with suppliers for the stabilisation 
of existing and the development of new condition 
models, 

 � the consolidation and further development of  
IT systems to achieve a further improvement in 
customer satisfaction,
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 � the enhancement of our selling power through the 
expansion of existing sales channels (multichan-
nel approach) and the use of existing and new 
sales collaborations and partnerships,

 � a further improvement in shop performance, also 
by marketing additional products,

 � the implementation and marketing of new prod-
ucts in the digital lifestyle field,

 � the intensified establishment of the brands  
klarmobil, freenetmobile, callmobile and debitel 
light in the steadily growing discount market, with 
the aim of participating even more actively in this 
growth market,

 � and the continuous improvement of processes and 
quality for a lasting reduction in cost structures.

The internal opportunities outlined above, in particu-
lar, result from freenet AG’s operational activities as 
a still network-independent mobile communications 
service provider and from its strategic commercial 
orientation towards becoming a genuine digital life-
style provider.

The assessment and implementation of strategic 
options in both, the mobile communications and  
digital lifestyle areas, the implementation and  
marketing of new, innovative products and the 
enhancement of our own selling power could have 
a positive effect on the anticipated revenue, EBITDA 
and free cash flow and hence exceed our expecta-
tions. A greater improvement in our selling power 
and customer satisfaction could, as it were, lead to a 
more positive trend in customer ownership than had 
been forecast. The likelihood of this happening, how-
ever, is regarded as probable rather low.

In addition to the established main brand mobil-
com-debitel, the discount brands klarmobil, free-
netmobile, callmobile and debitel light in particular, 
as well as others, could establish themselves more 
firmly on the market, possibly leading to a higher 
rate of market penetration. If the brands perform 
stronger than expected on the steadily growing  
discount market, this could lead to higher revenue 
and to improved results and higher free cash flow 
than had been forecast.

The strategic collaboration of mobile communica-
tions services and the digital lifestyle business was 
accelerated further in the first half of 2015. This 
Group-level orientation of business activities will 
be pursued consistently in the future as well, as the 
trend towards the continuing digitalisation and inter-
connection of products and services will carry on into 

the future (“Internet of Things”, “integrated product 
landscapes”). Against this backdrop, growth opportu-
nities, synergy potential and the chance to establish 
new strategic partnerships are still being discerned 
in relation to the rendering of services in the digital 
lifestyle field, especially Home Automation & Secu-
rity, Data Security and Entertainment. In the future, 
this could lead to more positive contributions to 
revenue, EBITDA and free cash flow than had hith-
erto been expected. The significance of the strategic 
transformation from a mobile communications spe-
cialist pure and simple to a digital lifestyle provider 
will increase against this background.

If the measures and efficiency improvements for a 
lasting reduction in cost structures that are resulting 
from the continuous improvement of processes and 
quality turn out to be more positive than expected, 
this might have a more positive impact in the years 
to come on the level of material overheads and per-
sonnel expenses, and hence on EBITDA and free cash 
flow, than has so far been budgeted for.

Overall evaluation of  
the opportunities situation

Thanks to the regular monitoring of the internal and 
external opportunities by the monthly reporting 
system and to the communication in the scheduled 
meetings, the management is in a position to  
perform the corporate (management) task that is 
incumbent upon it, and therefore to make a positive 
contribution to the operating and strategic safeguar-
ding of the company, by taking advantage of oppor-
tunities.

In the first half of 2015, both external and internal 
opportunities were identified that had basically 
remained the same since the previous year. The  
significance of the opportunities shown and the 
resulting positive effects on the forecast financial 
and non-financial performance indicators, and there-
fore on the development of the freenet Group as a 
whole, are collectively rated as low. It is therefore 
expected of the company’s management, that the 
positive forecast for the 2015 financial year is not 
decisively exceeded.
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Risk management system

An effective risk management system is essential 
for safeguarding the continued existence of freenet 
AG in the long term. freenet AG’s risk management 
system is applied solely to risks, not opportunities. 
It is designed to ensure that any risks to the com-
pany’s future development are identified at an early 
stage by all of our managers and communicated in 
a systematic, understandable manner to the respon-
sible decision-makers in the company. The timely 
communication of risks to the responsible decision-
makers is designed to ensure that appropriate steps 
are taken to deal with the identified risks, thereby 
averting damage to our company, our employees and 
our customers.

To this end, the freenet AG Executive Board has 
set up an efficient early warning, monitoring and 
management system within the Group that also 
covers the subsidiaries. As part of the statutory 
audit assignment for the annual and consolidated 
financial statements, this system is examined by the 
auditor for its suitability for identifying at an early 
stage any developments that endanger the company’s 
continued existence. The early warning system for risks 
conforms to statutory requirements. The systems 
and methods of the risk management system are an 
integral part of the overall organisation of freenet 
AG’s structure and processes. 

Figure 4: Process and structural organisation of freenet AG’s risk management system
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At least every six months, freenet AG’s individual 
departments and subsidiaries identify or update 
existing and new risks that exceed a defined materi-
ality threshold in formalised risk reports (risk identi-
fication). The risk reports describe the specific risks 
and investigate the probability of their occurrence, 
as well as their implications for the company, on 
the basis of standardised criteria (risk analysis and 
assessment).

The risks within the freenet Group are assessed in 
accordance with the net principle, by which the risk is 
observed in conjunction with the reducing influence 
of any countermeasures that were implemented. The 
criteria “probability of occurrence” and “anticipated 

extent of damage” are used to assess the risks. In 
the process, risks with an up to low (<50 per cent), 
medium (50-75 per cent), and high (>75 per cent) prob-
ability of occurrence are systematically categorised 
and differentiated from each other. With regard to 
the extent of the anticipated damage arising from a 
risk, distinctions are drawn between immaterial (<1.0 
million euros), low (1.0 to 2.5 million euros), medium 
(2.5 to 10.0 million euros) and high (>10.0 million 
euros) anticipated damage. The combination of the 
probability of occurrence and the extent of the antici-
pated damage results in the classification of the risks’ 
significance as “immaterial”, “low”, “medium”, “high” 
and “material”. These risk categories are shown in the 
following illustration.

 low  medium high

Probability of occurrence

Expected extent
of damage

high material

high

medium

medium

low

low

immaterial immaterial

Figure 5: Risk matrix at freenet AG

Based on the results of the risk analysis and assess-
ment that were communicated, various alternatives 
for action are carried out as part of the company’s 
general management, in order to react appropriately 
to the identified risks (risk control and risk moni-
toring). The individual risk reports are consolidated 
into an overall Group risk report and reported to the 
Executive Board. Between the standard reporting 
times, too, risks are recorded, analysed, evaluated 
and controlled immediately after their identification 
and, if they are of sufficient magnitude, reported 
immediately to the Executive Board and the Super-
visory Board (risk communication).

In its guidelines, which are continuously being 
extended and improved, the Executive Board has 

defined the significant risk categories for the Group, 
elaborated a strategy for dealing with these risk cat-
egories, and documented the allocation of tasks and 
areas of responsibility within the risk management 
system in the Group. These guidelines are familiar to 
all employees and enhance their risk awareness in a 
targeted fashion (part of risk communication).

The methods and systems of risk management 
are continuously being examined, enhanced and 
adjusted. In the process, freenet AG’s internal audit-
ing department plays a supporting role, with the reg-
ular audits of the risk reports being the main focus. 
The Supervisory Board, in particular freenet AG’s 
audit committee, monitors the effectiveness of the 
risk management system from the standpoint of  
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German stock corporation law. The Supervisory 
Board is integrated by means of regular reporting 
and, if necessary, an up-to-date report by the Exec-
utive Board (process-independent risk monitoring).

In addition to the risk management system, the Exec-
utive Board has established an extensive monthly 
reporting system that covers both the financial and 

non-financial performance indicators in the Group 
for the purpose of managing and monitoring its 
ongoing business activities. In regular meetings with 
all of the relevant business segments and units, the 
Executive Board informs itself in a timely manner 
about operational developments. Current topics and 
future measures are also discussed at these sched-
uled meetings (part of risk communication).

Risks

This section presents the risks that could influence 
freenet AG’s net assets, financial position or results 
of operations. The risks are categorised as market 
risks, IT risks, tax risks, financial risks and legal risks. 
The individual risks are specified in accordance with 
their ranking in the respective categories. 

The mobile communications segment is by far the 
most significant segment in the freenet Group in 
terms of both revenue and earnings. Accordingly, 
the major market risks originate from this segment. 
The estimation of risk for the other categories basi-
cally applies for all segments. Material differences 
between the segments in relation to the estimation 
of risk are specified as such separately.

Market risks

Highly competitive markets 

The telecommunications markets continue to be 
characterised by intense competition. This could 
lead to shortfalls in revenue, loss of market shares 
and pressure on margins in the respective business 
segments and/or could make it more difficult to gain 
market shares. 

Vigorous competition could also lead to higher costs 
for new customer acquisitions, accompanied by fall-
ing revenue and a great readiness of customers to 
switch. As a result, the forecast revenue-based key 
performance indicators, earnings indicators and free 
cash flow could develop in a slightly more negative 
fashion than had previously been expected. In order 
to prevail against this competition, freenet AG must 
continue to design its products attractively, market 
them successfully and carry out customer retention 
activities. In addition, freenet AG must respond to 

the development of the competition’s business and 
anticipate new customer requirements. This involves 
a medium risk for the achievement of the company’s 
goals. 

Network operators 

A reduction in network operator premiums could lead 
to a higher capital commitment and marketing risk. 
Margins in the mobile communications service pro-
vider segment, too, are determined to a large extent 
by the network operators and their structuring of the 
tariff models. This fact constitutes a medium risk for 
freenet AG. freenet AG is trying to minimise this risk 
by negotiating flexible purchasing terms and by con-
tinuously monitoring goal attainment for premium 
payments and renegotiating as and when necessary.

In its post-2016 reallocation of the mobile commu-
nications frequencies used until now, the German 
Federal Network Agency could ensure the discontin-
uation of freedom to discriminate between mobile 
network operators in the approval of service pro-
viders. There is a medium risk that the discontinu-
ation of the obligation regarding equal treatment of 
service providers might lead to an annual cancella-
tion of the service provider contracts by the mobile 
communications network operators insofar as no 
long-term contracts have yet been concluded with 
the network operator in question. Without a service 
provider contract, marketing mobile communications 
products as a service provider for this mobile com-
munications network operator would no longer be 
possible. freenet AG counters this risk by conclud-
ing long-term service provider contracts with the 
respective mobile communications network opera-
tors and by participating actively in the ongoing fre-
quency allocation procedures with the objective of 
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benefiting from the obligation regarding equal treat-
ment of service providers.

The network operators are increasingly marketing 
their products themselves and forcing the mobile 
communications service providers out of the mar-
ket (“shift to direct”). Also, due to their business 
structure as regards sales, the network operators 
are sometimes able to offer better rates than the 
mobile communications service providers. This, in 
turn, could lead to a loss of distribution channels and 
customers.

As a counter-measure, freenet AG concludes long-
term contracts with key distribution partners 
and offers them attractive incentive systems (e.g.  
airtime models). Acquiring additional franchise 
partners is another possible way of gaining and/or 
expanding distribution channels, and therefore of 
keeping the risk low.

The recent merger of the two network operators 
o2 and E-Plus can lead to a reduction in competi-
tion between the remaining mobile communica-
tions network operators (MNOs) and a consequent  
weakening of the service-provider model. This could 
manifest itself in, among other things, a decrease in 
the margin. There is also the danger of coordinated 
behaviour between the three remaining MNOs at the 
expense of all service providers. The network capac-
ity ceded by Telefónica S.A. to another market par-
ticipant without a network is likely to be marketed 
fairly aggressively. On the credit side, existing con-
tracts were extended until 2025, thus providing a cer-
tain safeguarding effect for the freenet Group. In the 
event of market-wide curtailments in conditions, the 
sales partners’ conditions will be adjusted.

The network operator risks, either individually or in 
combination with one another, could affect the fore-
cast earnings indicators and free cash flow more neg-
atively than has so far been anticipated.

Acquisition of companies

Quite recently, freenet AG has made corporate acqui-
sitions. In connection with this, there is a medium 
risk that the operating activities of these new invest-
ments will not develop as expected and that con-
sequently, growth will remain below expectations 
and therefore below the forecast results and free 
cash flows. In the management report, the compa-
ny’s development is monitored regularly with the 

objective of initiating countermeasures immediately 
whenever there is a deviation from the plan.

Termination charges

If the Federal Network Agency lowers the “termi-
nation charges” any further, this could reduce reve-
nue per customer on the market more sharply than 
expected. Based on past reductions of these charges, 
however, this risk is low. freenet AG monitors the 
regulatory environment on a permanent basis.

Laws and regulation

Legislative changes, interventions by regulators or 
even landmark judicial decisions could have reper-
cussions for the tariff structure and for the possi-
bility of claiming receivables from customers. This 
could have a negative impact on the forecast revenue 
and on the amount of free cash flows. The effects of 
individual decisions or legislative changes cannot be  
significant in themselves, with the result that the 
associated risk can be classified as low overall. 
freenet AG counters this risk by regularly monitor-
ing regulatory developments and following the out-
comes of legal judgements.

IT risks

The operational availability and efficiency of the 
technical infrastructure, including the company’s 
computing centres and billing systems are of major 
importance for the company’s successful operation 
and continued existence. There is a low risk that net-
work failures or service problems caused by system 
malfunctions or breakdowns might lead to a loss of 
customers. Apart from the decline in revenue that 
results from a loss of customers, a system breakdown 
means that freenet AG cannot provide any services 
and is therefore unable to generate any revenue or 
make any positive contribution to the anticipated 
earnings or free cash flow. Technical early warning 
systems are used to prevent such breakdown and fail-
ure risks. Continuous maintenance and updates keep 
the security precautions up to date at all times. To 
prevent the loss of sensitive data, a backup is gen-
erated every 24 hours and is relocated when saved. 
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Tax risks

Loss carryforwards

If, within five years, 25 per cent or more of the shares 
or voting rights in the company came to be held 
directly or indirectly by a single shareholder or by 
several shareholders with parallel interests (harm-
ful acquisition of shares), any negative income (cor-
poration and trade tax loss carryforwards) of the 
company not settled or deducted by the time of the 
harmful acquisition could be lost in whole or in part, 
in accordance with section 8c of the German Corpo-
ration Tax Act (KStG). Shares are considered to be 
united in a single shareholder if they are transferred 
to a buyer, to persons close to the buyer, or to a group 
of buyers with parallel interests.

The company has no influence on the occurrence of 
this risk, as the (perhaps partial) elimination of any 
negative income (corporation and trade tax loss car-
ryforwards) not settled or deducted by the time of 
the harmful acquisition is brought about by meas-
ures and transactions at shareholder level. Against 
this backdrop, it cannot be ruled out that as a result 
of a sale or additional purchase of shares by the 
company’s shareholders, 25 per cent or more of the 
shares could be united under a single shareholder. 
The same medium risk exists if 25 per cent or more 
of the shares or voting rights are first united through 
other measures under a single shareholder or several 
shareholders with parallel interests. The legal conse-
quences described above apply correspondingly.

VAT risk on “remuneration of a third party”

In a letter from the Federal Ministry of Finance 
dated 4 December 2014 and a simultaneous adden-
dum to the VAT application decree, the fiscal author-
ity issued the following rule: If the intermediary in 
a mobile communications contract supplies the cus-
tomer in the intermediary’s own name with a mobile 
communications device or some other electronic 
article, and if the mobile communications company 
grants the intermediary a commission dependent on 
the supply of the mobile communications device or 
other electronic articles on the basis of a contractual 
agreement, or part of a commission dependent on 
the above, such a commission or part of a commission 
shall not be regarded as remuneration for an inter-
mediary brokering role vis-a-vis the mobile commu-
nications company, but rather as remuneration from 

a third party as defined by section 10 (1) sentence 
3 of the German VAT Act (UStG) for the supply of 
the mobile communications device or the other elec-
tronic article. This applies irrespective of the amount 
of any additional payment to be made by the cus-
tomer. The application of this rule as from 1 January 
2015 will not involve any reportable risks for the com-
pany. As for the revenue generated before 1 January 
2015, the company regards it as very likely indeed 
that the rule specified above will have no significant 
negative effects for freenet AG under VAT law. How-
ever, a low risk remains for the revenue generated 
before 1 January 2015 for assessment periods that 
have not been audited conclusively, as a result of 
which freenet AG would have to refund some of its 
input tax to the tax authorities.

Other tax risks

In the case of assessment periods that have not been 
audited conclusively, there might in principle be 
changes that result in subsequent tax payments or 
changes in the loss carryforwards if the tax author-
ities, within the framework of external tax audits, 
come to divergent interpretations of tax regulations 
or divergent assessments of the respective under-
lying circumstances. The same applies for types of 
official charges which in part have yet to be audited, 
in particular because they are usually not subject to 
external tax audits.

The risk of divergent interpretations and assessments 
of circumstances applies in particular to corporate 
restructuring processes under company law. It can-
not therefore be ruled out entirely that as a result of 
contributions of assets, other conversion procedures, 
new capital injections and changes in the sharehold-
ing structure, the corporate income and trade tax 
carryforwards declared by the corporations in the 
freenet Group and hitherto ascertained separately 
by the tax authorities might be reduced or discontin-
ued. All in all, this is regarded as a low risk.
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Financial risks

The objective of financial risk management is to limit 
risks by means of the company’s ongoing operating 
and financing activities. In this area the company is 
essentially subject to the risks described below in 
respect of its financial instruments, financial assets 
and financial liabilities.

Bad debt losses

A risk of bad debt losses is the unexpected loss 
of funds or revenue as a result of the partial or  
complete default on receivables owed. There is a 
medium default risk with regard to the trade receiv-
ables reported in the balance sheet and other assets. 

The assessment of the risk of default on receivables 
in the freenet Group is focused primarily on trade 
receivables owed by end customers. Here, particular 
attention is devoted to the credit standing of cus-
tomers and sales partners in our Group’s large-scale 
business activities. For important contract customer 
segments, credit assessments are carried out for the 
customers before the contract is signed. In the ongo-
ing contractual relationship, the implementation of 
a swift and regular reminder and debt collection  
process involving a number of debt collection  
companies in the benchmarking area, together 
with long-term debt collection monitoring and high 
spender monitoring, are essential measures for 
the minimisation of the default risk in our Group.  
An ongoing reminder and debt collection process is 
likewise used for receivables owed by retailers and 
franchise partners. In a similar vein, credit limits are 
established and monitored. Commercial credit insur-
ance, moreover, safeguards us against significant 
default risks vis-a-vis major customers (traders and 
distributors in the mobile communications segment). 
The risks associated with uninsured traders and dis-
tributors are restricted by an internal limit system 

– generally, customers with a poor credit standing 
must pay cash in advance or the commercial relation-
ship will not come into being. Finally, the appropriate 
formation of valuation allowances takes the risks of 
default on receivables into account.

Between the Group and a bank there is a factoring 
agreement on the sale of receivables from mobile 
options. The relevant risks, such as the risk of default 
in particular, and opportunities are transferred to 
the bank. Although of minor significance, the late 

payment risk shall be completely retained by the 
freenet Group.

Impairment of assets

In freenet AG’s consolidated balance sheet, both 
goodwill and intangible assets such as customer  
relationships and trademark rights are reported in 
their material amounts. There is a medium risk that 
impairment tests in the subsequent periods might 
lead to substantial impairment of value.

freenet AG’s assets are checked both regularly 
and otherwise as and when appropriate if there are  
potential indicators of lasting impairment. Such an 
indicator could be, for example, changes in the  
economic or regulatory environment. A diminution  
in value that might result from an impairment 
test has no effect on the cash flows and therefore 
remains without impact on the financial performance  
indicators.

Cash

The Group’s general liquidity risk, which is classified 
as a medium risk, resides in the possibility that the 
company might potentially be unable to meet its 
financial obligations, for example the repayment of 
financial debts, the payment of purchasing obliga-
tions and the obligations from lease agreements.

Extensive financial planning instruments are used 
throughout the Group to monitor and control liquid-
ity. The Group also controls its liquidity risk by hold-
ing appropriate bank balances and credit lines at 
banks, and by monitoring continuously the forecast 
and actual cash flows. The need for and investment 
of liquid funds in the Group is controlled centrally on 
the basis of several existing internal Group cash pool-
ing agreements in which the significant companies in 
the freenet Group participate.

The group uses a variety of financing instruments 
to reduce the general liquidity risk. The liabilities to 
banks shown under borrowings result from a fixed-in-
terest corporate bond (reported as at 30 June 2015: 
404.6 million euros) which was issued as part of the 
refinancing in April 2011, and from the promissory 
note bond signed in December 2012 and May 2015 
(reported as at 30 June 2015 with a balance totalling 
219.5 million euros – comprising 79.8 million euros 
in three separate variable-interest tranches and 139.7 
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million euros in four separate fixed-interest tranches). 
The Group also has a revolving credit line amounting 
to 300.0 million euros that had not been drawn on by 
the end of the half-year.

The credit agreements that were concluded bring 
about another low liquidity risk because the restric-
tions agreed therein (undertakings and covenants) 
restrict freenet AG’s financial and operational lee-
way. The agreements impose restrictions on the com-
pany, for example regarding changes in the Group’s 
business operations, the implementation of internal 
Group measures to change its structure under com-
pany law, the provision of collateral, and any acqui-
sitions or disposals of assets, especially sharehold-
ings. There are stringent restrictions on the company 
raising loans outside of these credit agreements, e.g. 
in order to finance future strategic investments. In 
view of the aforementioned liquidity reserves, how-
ever, the covenants represent only a minor restric-
tion for freenet AG.

Capital risk management 

The Group’s capital risk management is related to the 
shareholders’ equity as shown in the consolidated 
balance sheet and to ratios derived therefrom. The 
primary objective of the Group’s capital risk manage-
ment is to guarantee compliance with the financial 
covenants contained within the credit agreements. 
The main financial covenants are defined in relation 
to the Group’s equity ratio and the debt factor (ratio 
of Group net debt to Group EBITDA). If the macro-
economic conditions were to deteriorate, this might 
under certain circumstances lead to a situation where 
the freenet Group can no longer deliver on its agree-
ments with the financing banks. There is a medium 
risk of the financing banks being entitled to declare 

the loans due and payable. freenet AG minimises the 
risk by monitoring the financial ratios continuously.

Interest rate risk

As regards variable-interest financial debt, our com-
pany is subject to interest rate risks related largely 
to the EURIBOR. The company counters these minor 
risks by having a mix of fixed- and variable-interest 
financial debt. Although the interest rate risks are 
not explicitly secured, the cash holdings, which are 
invested mainly at variable interest rates based on 
EONIA or EURIBOR, serve as a natural hedge and 
accordingly mitigate interest rate risks arising from 
the variable-interest financial debts.

Funds are usually invested as call money or time 
deposits at commercial banks with high credit  
ratings. 

The company continuously monitors the various 
opportunities available for investing the liquid assets 
on the basis of the day-to-day liquidity planning at its 
disposal as well as the various options available for 
scheduling the debt. Changes in market interest rates 
could have an impact on the net interest result from 
originally variable-interest financial instruments and 
are included in the calculation process for results- 
related sensitivities.

Other financial risks

The company feels that other financial risks, such 
as those relating to foreign currency or changes in 
exchange rates, can be classified as immaterial and 
need not be mentioned separately in this interim 
Group management report.

 Interim group management report: Opportunities and risk report
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Legal risks

Mediation proceedings

Former shareholders of mobilcom AG and freenet.
de AG have applied for a judicial review, in accord-
ance with section 15 of the German Reorganisation 
Act (UmwG), of the share exchange ratio applied in 
the 2007 merger of mobilcom AG and freenet.de AG 
into what is now freenet AG. In a recognised inade-
quacy of the exchange rate, this could have resulted 
in cash payments to all affected shareholders, even 
if they were not among the plaintiffs in the compen-
sation proceedings.

The company is assuming, however, that the share 
exchange ratio was appropriate and that there will 
be no cash adjustments, as the exchange ratio was 
determined with care and was audited and confirmed 
by the court-appointed merger auditors.

The company regards its assessment as validated 
by Kiel District Court (“Landgericht Kiel”), which 
rejected the lawsuits filed by both groups of share-
holders. Some applicants have appealed against 
this decision at Schleswig-Holstein Higher Regional 
Court (“OLG Schleswig”); however by resolution of 
29 January 2015 the objections of the applicants were 
dismissed.

Settlement agreement with France Telecom

mobilcom AG, as the company’s legal predeces-
sor, and a number of other former mobilcom group 

companies signed a settlement agreement with 
France Telecom and associated companies in Novem-
ber 2002. The validity of this settlement agreement 
is being challenged by a number of individual share-
holders.

The company regards the settlement in question as 
valid and has not received any indication that France 
Telecom does not feel bound by it. Should the opin-
ion of these shareholders be legally upheld, however, 
there would be a medium risk for freenet AG that 
France Telecom will claim from the company the sum 
of 7.1 billion euros, which it had waived as part of the 
settlement agreement, and will contest the grounds 
and amounts of any counterclaims the company 
might put forward.

Capital increase through contribution in kind

Some shareholders take the view that the capital 
increase through contribution in kind by mobilcom 
AG, the company’s legal predecessor, in November 
2000 was flawed and/or that the contribution in kind 
rendered was not of any value, with the consequence 
that on the one hand the company would still be enti-
tled to compensation claims against France Telecom 
running into billions and, furthermore, that the sha-
res issued to France Telecom would have had no 
voting rights. freenet AG regards these circumstan-
ces as a medium risk and is assuming that the capital 
increase through contribution in kind was carried out 
in a valid manner. 
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Overall assessment of the risk position

The risks for freenet AG that are outlined above are summarised in the overview below.

Thanks to the risk management process that has been 
implemented and the monthly reporting system, the 
Executive Board has a good overall view of the risk  
situation presented here. Individual risks have 
changed only slightly compared with the previous 
year as far as their probability of occurrence or their 
impact is concerned. All in all, it can be assumed 
that the risks have no impact on the continued  
existence of the freenet Group. The Executive Board 
is convinced that if the risk management approach 
used to date is continued with, freenet AG will again 
be in a position to identify relevant risks in a timely 
manner and initiate suitable countermeasures to 
tackle them in the coming financial year.

Market risks, IT risks and tax risks, financial risks as 
well as legal risks were identified at 30 June 2015. 
Their potential effects on the general future devel-
opment of the freenet Group and its financial and 
non-financial performance indicators are classified 
by the management in overall terms as low. The 
management is therefore expecting that the positive 
trend forecast will not be compromised significantly 
short of as a result of the aforementioned risks.

 Interim group management report: Opportunities and risk report

Risks
Probability  

of occurrence
Expected extent  

of damage Risk Tendency

Market risks

Highly competitive markets medium medium medium

Network operator

 Bonuses and margins medium medium medium

 Service provider obligation low high medium

 Shift to direct medium low low

 O₂ and E-Plus low immaterial immaterial

Acquisition of companies medium medium medium

Termination charges low medium low

Laws and regulation low low low

IT risks low medium low

Tax risks

Loss carryforwards low high medium

VAT risk on “remuneration of a third party“ low medium low

Other tax risks low medium low

Financial risks

Bad debt losses high low medium

Impairment of the assets low high medium

Liquidity

 General liquidity risk low high medium

 Constraint of financial leeway low medium low

Capital risk management low high medium

Interest rate risk medium low low

Other financial risks low immaterial immaterial

Legal risks

Settlement agreement with France Telecom low high medium

Capital increase by way of contribution in kind low high medium
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Key features of the internal control  
and risk management system in 
relation to the Group accounting 
process (section 315 (2) no. 5 HGB)

Definition and elements of the freenet 
Group’s internal control system

The freenet Group’s internal control system follows 
the internationally recognised COSO (Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-
mission) framework. It comprises all processes and 
measures to secure effective, economical and proper 
accounting, in particular to ensure compliance with 
the pertinent legal provisions.

freenet AG’s Executive Board has instructed all areas 
of the Group to manage their monitoring and control 
processes in accordance with standardised principles.

The departments analyse their processes continu-
ously, also with regard to new legal requirements 
and other standards to be observed, develop internal 
standards based on the above and train the respon-
sible employees.

The key elements of the freenet Group’s internal  
control system are based on automated IT control 
processes with alarm thresholds on the one hand, and 
on manual process controls to check the plausibility 
of the automatically aggregated results on the other. 
The risk management system is linked to the internal 
control system and covers not only operational risk 
management, but also the systematic early identifi-
cation, control and monitoring of risks throughout 
the Group. For further explanatory notes about the 
risk management system, please refer to the “Risk 
management system” section of the risk report.

Structure of the Group accounting process

The accounting processes for the individual financial 
statements of freenet AG’s subsidiaries are basically 
recorded by local accounting systems manufactured 
by SAP. freenet AG uses SAP’s “EC-CS” module as 
its consolidation system at the uppermost Group 
level. For the preparation of the consolidated bal-
ance sheet, the consolidated income statement, the  
consolidated statement of cash flows, and the 
execution of the capital, debt, and expenses and 
income consolidation, etc., the data reported by 
the subsidiaries is entered into the consolidation  

system in a variety of ways—mostly automatically 
using the SAP module “FI”, and in isolated cases also 
manually by entering the reported data. The individual  
disclosures in the Group management report and 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
are each generated from standardised reporting  
packages and institutionalised coordination pro-
cesses as part of the internal control system; these 
processes are handled using MS Excel among others. 
The aforementioned information for the notes, too, is 
consolidated using MS Excel.

freenet AG’s Group internal auditing department 
reviews the accuracy and access authorisations 
of the SAP EC-CS consolidation system at regular  
intervals. freenet AG’s Group auditor regularly 
inspects the interface between SAP-FI and the con-
solidation system SAP EC-CS, as well as the recon-
ciliation from the subsidiaries’ standardised report-
ing packages and freenet AG’s consolidated financial 
statements.

Key regulatory and controlling  
activities to ensure proper and reliable 
Group accounting

The internal control activities aimed at ensuring pro-
per and reliable Group accounting make sure that 
business transactions are recorded fully, in good time 
and in accordance with the statutory provisions and 
the articles of association.

The regular elements in the Group’s internal control 
system are aimed at achieving the extensive auto-
mation of the formation and cross-checking of all  
relevant data, from raw accounting data and cus-
tomer invoicing to valuation allowances, accruals, 
depreciation and amortisation. These automated 
controls are supplemented by manual plausibility 
checks of all relevant interim results and random 
checks of the underlying detailed data. This ensures 
proper inventory management and the accurate  
recognition, measurement and disclosure of assets 
and liabilities in the consolidated financial state-
ments. In addition to this, there are extraordinary 
control elements including process-independent 
reviews by freenet AG’s internal Group audit depart-
ment on behalf of the Supervisory Board, in particular 
under the supervision of freenet AG’s Supervisory 
Board audit committee.

The Group internal audit department’s annual review 
of the internal control system in 2014 showed that 
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potential improvements ascertained in the depart-
ments audited in previous years have been imple-
mented. On the one hand, the department has inten-
sified its proven controlling activities continuously 
and increased the frequency of internal audits, and 
on the other hand, it has increased the level of auto-
mation within the controlling activities. The results 
are used to systematically derive measures and 
monitor their success.

The Group auditor and other review bodies are 
likewise involved in the freenet Group’s control 

environment with process-independent review 
activities. 

The audit of consolidated financial statements by 
the Group auditor and the audit of the individual 
financial statements from Group companies included 
in the consolidated fi nancial statements, in particular, 
constitute the fi nal non-process-related monitoring 
measure with regard to Group accounting.

Figure 6: Key features of the internal control system at freenet AG
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1) Free cash flow (FCF) is defined as cash flow from operating activities, minus investments in property, plant and equipment and  
intangible assets, plus proceeds from the disposal of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets.

2) At the end of period.

Prognosebericht 

The Executive Board confirms its guidance for the 
current financial year as included in the Group man-
agement report 2014. There were no significant 
changes in the first half of 2015.

freenet AG expects to see a stabilisation in Group 
revenue in the financial year 2015 and a slight increase 
in the financial year 2016. The company’s optimism 

is not only based on a slightly increasing number of 
customers in the customer ownership base (postpaid 
and no-frills) and a stabilisation of postpaid ARPU in 
the core business segment of mobile communica-
tions, but also on the increasing cultivation of rev-
enue sources from the sale of devices, accessories 
and services for mobile applications covering various 
aspects of digital lifestyle.

FORECAST

 Interim group management report: Forecast

Year-to-date/ Forecast

In EUR million/as indicated 2014 1st half 2015 2015 2016

Financial performance indicators

Group revenue 3,040.6 1,501.0 stable
slight 

increase

Group EBITDA 365.6 175.1 370 375

Group free cash flow 1) 266.6 136.3 280 285

Postpaid ARPU (in EUR) 21.4 21.2 stable stable

Non-financial performance indicator

Customer Ownership (in mio.) 2 8.92 9.11
slight 

increase
slight 

increase

In line with the developments described above, 
freenet AG aims to achieve a Group EBITDA of around 
370 million euros for the 2015 financial year and around 
375 million euros for the 2016 financial year.

freenet AG also aims to achieve free cash flow 
for the freenet Group, defined as cash flow from  

current operating activities, less investments in prop-
erty, plant and equipment and intangible assets, plus 
the cash inflows from disposals of intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment in the amount of 
approx. 280 million euros in the 2015 financial year and 
approx. 285 million euros in the 2016 financial year.

Table 8: Development of the key performance indicators



HEADLINE ENG
HEADLINE ZWEITE ZEILE
DRITTE ZEILE

HEADLINE DE
HEADLINE ZWEITE ZEILE
DRITTE ZEILE



 : Process-independent monitoring measures: Prognosebericht  : Process-independent monitoring measures: Prognosebericht 
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In EUR `000s/as indicated 

1st half 2015
1.1.2015-
30.6.2015

1st half 2014
1.1.2014-
30.6.2014

Q2/2015
1.4.2015-
30.6.2015

Q2/2014
1.4.2014-
30.6.2014

Revenue 1,501,011 1,444,746 752,537 727,222

Other operating income 31,431 31,896 17,761 16,663

Other own work capitalised 6,351 5,164 3,785 2,766

Cost of material -1,123,261 -1,071,707 -566,178 -536,689

Personnel expenses -99,762 -94,802 -49,589 -48,507

Depreciation and impairment write-downs -34,211 -32,399 -18,756 -16,442

Other operating expenses -140,710 -142,362 -69,254 -73,899

Operating result 140,849 140,536 70,306 71,114

Share of results of associates accounted for using the equity method 57 148 26 78

Interest receivable and similar income 457 681 207 389

Interest payable and similar expenses -19,717 -20,840 -9,921 -11,080

Result before taxes on income 121,646 120,525 60,618 60,501

Taxes on income -10,522 -6,023 -5,708 -3,427

Group result from continued operations 111,124 114,502 54,910 57,074

Group result from discontinued operations 0 0 0 0

Group result 111,124 114,502 54,910 57,074

Group result attributable to shareholders of freenet AG 110,616 113,978 54,651 56,647

Group result attributable to non-controlling interest 508 524 259 427

Earnings per share in EUR (undiluted) 0.86 0.89 0.42 0.44

Earnings per share in EUR (diluted) 0.86 0.89 0.42 0.44

Earnings per share from continued operations in EUR (undiluted) 0.86 0.89 0.42 0.44

Earnings per share from continued operations in EUR (diluted) 0.86 0.89 0.42 0.44

Earnings per share from discontinued operations in EUR (undiluted) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Earnings per share from discontinued operations in EUR (diluted) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Weighted average of shares outstanding in thousand (undiluted) 128,011 128,011 128,011 128,011

Weighted average of shares outstanding in thousand (diluted) 128,011 128,011 128,011 128,011

Consolidated income statement 
for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2015

Condensed interim consolidated financial statements: Consolidated income Statement
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2015

In EUR `000s 

1st half 2015
1.1.2015-
30.6.2015

1st half 2014
1.1.2014-
30.6.2014

Q2/2015
1.4.2015-
30.6.2015

Q2/2014
1.4.2014-
30.6.2014

Group result 111,124 114,502 54,910 57,074

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets -43 -31 -11 1

Currency difference 169 56 -68 55

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income -38 -7 24 -16

Other comprehensive income/to be reclassified to the income statement 
in the following periods 88 18 -55 40

Recognition of actuarial gains and losses arising from the accounting for 
pension plans acc. IAS 19 (2011) 6,454 0 12,175 0

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income -1,939 0 -3,658 0

Other comprehensive income/not to be reclassified to the income 
statement in the following periods 4,515 0 8,517 0

Other comprehensive income 4,603 18 8,462 40

Consolidated comprehensive income 115,727 114,520 63,372 57,114

Consolidated comprehensive income attributable  
to shareholders of freenet AG 115,219 113,996 63,113 56,687

Consolidated comprehensive income attributable  
to non-controlling interest 508 524 259 427

Condensed interim consolidated financial statements: Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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In EUR ‘000s 30.6.2015 31.3.2015 31.12.2014

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 385,684 396,870 390,137

Goodwill 1,153,298 1,153,298 1,153,298

Property, plant and equipment 33,032 33,974 34,307

Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method 1,577 1,550 1,519

Other investments 1,526 1,531 1,534

Deferred income tax assets 203,499 204,877 199,853

Trade accounts receivable 78,861 79,921 79,581

Other receivables and other assets 9,541 9,575 11,950

1,867,018 1,881,596 1,872,179

Current assets

Inventories 67,879 81,954 79,996

Current income tax assets 2,139 2,066 1,826

Trade accounts receivable 373,320 347,056 408,482

Other receivables and other assets 30,221 26,462 23,879

Cash and cash equivalents 124,086 172,987 111,944

597,645 630,525 626,127

2,464,663 2,512,121 2,498,306

Consolidated balance sheet as of 30 June 2015

Assets

Condensed interim consolidated financial statements: Consolidated balance sheet
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In TEUR 30.6.2015 31.3.2015 31.12.2014

Eigenkapital

Grundkapital 128.061 128.061 128.061

Kapitalrücklage 737.536 737.536 737.536

Kumuliertes sonstiges Ergebnis -16.692 -25.154 -21.295

Konzernbilanzergebnis 364.224 501.590 445.625

Anteil der Aktionäre der freenet AG am Eigenkapital 1.213.129 1.342.033 1.289.927

Nicht beherrschende Anteile am Eigenkapital 4.201 3.942 3.693

1.217.330 1.345.975 1.293.620

Langfristige Schulden

Verbindlichkeiten aus Lieferungen und Leistungen 0 544 540

Übrige Verbindlichkeiten und Abgrenzungen 23.587 23.333 38.351

Finanzschulden 218.195 518.504 518.223

Latente Ertragsteuerschulden 113 119 123

Pensionsrückstellungen 53.523 65.357 59.346

Andere Rückstellungen 9.490 9.531 9.097

304.908 617.388 625.680

Kurzfristige Schulden

Verbindlichkeiten aus Lieferungen und Leistungen 373.248 354.011 369.931

Übrige Verbindlichkeiten und Abgrenzungen 110.724 105.011 124.318

Laufende Ertragsteuerschulden 26.998 36.786 38.663

Finanzschulden 406.201 28.102 20.333

Andere Rückstellungen 25.254 24.848 25.761

942.425 548.758 579.006

2.464.663 2.512.121 2.498.306

In EUR ’000s 30.6.2015 31.3.2015 31.12.2014

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 128,061 128,061 128,061

Capital reserve 737,536 737,536 737,536

Cumulative other comprehensive income -16,692 -25,154 -21,295

Retained earnings 364,224 501,590 445,625

Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of freenet AG 1,213,129 1.342,033 1,289,927

Capital and reserves attributable to non-controlling interest 4,201 3,942 3,693

1,217,330 1,345,975 1,293,620

Non-current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 0 544 540

Other payables 23,587 23,333 38,351

Borrowings 218,195 518,504 518,223

Deferred income tax liabilities 113 119 123

Pension provisions 53,523 65,357 59,346

Other provisions 9,490 9,531 9,097

304,908 617,388 625,680

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 373,248 354,011 369,931

Other payables 110,724 105,011 124,318

Current income tax liabilities 26,998 36,786 38,663

Borrowings 406,201 28,102 20,333

Other provisions 25,254 24,848 25,761

942,425 548,758 579,006

2,464,663 2,512,121 2,498,306

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Condensed interim consolidated financial statements: Consolidated balance sheet



50 freenet AG · Interim Report as of 30 June 2015 – Q2/2015 

1 Figures are balanced with income tax recognised in other comprehensive income.

Schedule of changes in equity

for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2015

In EUR `000s Share capital Capital reserve

Cumulative other comprehensive income

Retained  
earnings

Capital and 
reserves 

attributable to 
shareholders of 

freenet AG

Capital and 
reserves 

attributable to 
non-controlling 

interest
Shareholders’ 

equity
Revaluation 

reserve
Currency  

difference

Valuation reserve 
in accordance 

with IAS 19

As of 1.1.2014 128,061 737,536 -69 0 -12,717 383,776 1,236,587 2,995 1,239,582

Dividend payment 0 0 0 0 0 -185,616 -185,616 0 -185,616

Group result 0 0 0 0 0 113,978 113,978 524 114,502

Change in fair value of 
available-for-sale  
financial instruments1 0 0 -22 0 0 0 -22 0 -22

Foreign currency  
translation1 0 0 0 40 0 0 40 0 40

Sub-total: Consolidated 
comprehensive income 0 0 -22 40 0 113,978 113,996 524 114,520

As of 30.6.2014 128,061 737,536 -91 40 -12,717 312,138 1,164,967 3,519 1,168,486

In EUR ’000s Share capital Capital reserve

Cumulative other comprehensive income

Retained  
earnings

Capital and 
reserves 

attributable to 
shareholders of 

freenet AG

Capital and 
reserves 

attributable to 
non-controlling 

interest
Shareholders’ 

equity
Revaluation 

reserve
Currency  

difference

Valuation reserve 
in accordance 

with IAS 19

As of 1.1.2015 128,061 737,536 -99 247 -21,443 445,625 1,289,927 3,693 1,293,620

Dividend payment 0 0 0 0 0 -192,017 -192,017 0 -192,017

Group result 0 0 0 0 0 110,616 110,616 508 111,124

Recognition of actuarial 
gains and losses 
acc. IAS 19 (2011)1 0 0 0 0 4,515 0 4,515 0 4,515

Change in fair value of 
available-for-sale  
financial instruments1 0 0 -30 0 0 0 -30 0 -30

Foreign currency  
translation1 0 0 0 118 0 0 118 0 118

Sub-total: Consolidated 
comprehensive income 0 0 -30 118 4,515 110,616 115,219 508 115,727

As of 30.6.2015 128,061 737,536 -129 365 -16,928 364,224 1,213,129 4,201 1,217,330

Condensed interim consolidated financial statements: Schedule of changes in equity
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2015

In EUR ’000s

1st half 2015
1.1.2015-
30.6.2015

1st half 2014
1.1.2014-
30.6.2014

Result from continued and discontinued operations before interest and taxes (EBIT) 140,906 140,684

Adjustments

Depreciation and impairment on items of fixed assets 34,211 32,399

Share of results of associates accounted for using the equity method -57 -148

Gains on the disposal of fixed assets -91 -197

Increase in net working capital not attributable to investing or financing activities 4,496 -18,186

Tax payments -28,303 -12,815

Cash flow from operating activities 151,162 141,737

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -15,068 -10,886

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 196 417

Payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries 0 -46,929

Proceeds from the sale of subsidiaries 100 540

Return on capital from associates, accounted for using the equity method 0 150

Interest received 334 487

Cash flow from investing activities -14,438 -56,221

Dividend payments to company owners and minority shareholders -192,017 -185,616

Proceeds from new borrowings 99,400 0

Cash repayments of borrowings -1,157 -158

Interest paid -30,808 -30,642

Cash flow from financing activities -124,582 -216,416

Cash-effective change in cash and cash equivalents 12,142 -130,900

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 111,944 110,766

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 124,086 -20,134

Composition of cash and cash equivalents
In EUR ’000s 30.6.2015 30.6.2014

Cash and cash equivalents of continued operations 124,086 108,866

Liabilities within the scope of short-term financial disposition 0 -129,000

 124,086 -20,134

Composition of free cash flow
In EUR ’000s 30.6.2015 30.6.2014

Cash flow from operating activities 151,162 141,737

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -15,068 -10,886

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 196 417

Free cash flow (FCF) 136,290 131,268

Condensed interim consolidated financial statements: Consolidated statement of cash flows
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Major accounting, valuation and consolidation principles

1.  These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with  
Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council, based on the international 
accounting standards endorsed by the European Union, the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), in accordance with IAS 34. The Group took into account all IFRS adopted and mandated by the EU. 
No review of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements has been carried out. 

  The Group has applied all of the accounting standards which are mandatory as at the reporting date.  
The accounting standards whose application has been mandatory for the first time since 1 January 2015 
have no appreciable impact on freenet AG’s condensed consolidated financial statements. The standards in 
question concern the Annual Improvements Project 2011-2013 – Improvements in IFRS (IFRS1, IFRS 3, IFRS 
13, and IAS 40) and IFRIC 21 (Levies). 

  The accounting and valuation methods used to prepare the condensed interim report for the period ending 
30 June 2015 and to establish the benchmark figures for the previous year are the same as those which were 
applied in the consolidated financial statements for the period to 31 December 2014. A detailed descrip-
tion of the Group’s accounting and valuation methods is included in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements of freenet AG as at 31 December 2014.

2.  The composition of the cash-generating units (CGU) was adjusted to the internal management control pro-
cess in these consolidated interim financial statements. The CGU freenet digital (goodwill carrying amount 
as at 30 June 2015: 29,162 thousand euros) and the CGU Portal (goodwill carrying amount as at 30 June 2015: 
588 thousand euros) were merged to form the CGU Online in the first quarter of 2015, as a reorganisation 
of the areas had been made. For reasons of comparability, the previous year’s figure was adjusted.

 Allocation of goodwill in the balance sheet to CGUs

In EUR ’000s 30.6.2015
31.12.2014 

adjusted

Mobile Communications 1,119,396 1,119,396

Online 29,750 29,750

Other 4,152 4,152

Total 1,153,298 1,153,298

SELECTED EXPLANATORY NOTES 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH IAS 34
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Significant events and transactions

3.  For some time now, the freenet Group has been offering its customers the opportunity to choose high-
er-value devices for an additional monthly fee with its mobile phone upgrade option. Contracts with this 
mobile phone upgrade option continue to be recognised as follows: freenet has an unconditional right to 
payment from the customer receiving the mobile phone as part of the mobile phone upgrade option. freenet 
records a receivable in the amount of the present value of the additional monthly amounts to be paid by the 
customer for the higher-value mobile phone over the term of the contract when the contract is signed and 
the mobile phone is handed over. As customers’ willingness to pay more for higher-value smartphones has 
increased, the number of postpaid customers selecting this mobile phone upgrade option has risen stead-
ily over the past few financial years. This also means that the figure for deferred receivables relating to the 
mobile phone upgrade option recognised under non-current and current trade receivables has climbed con-
tinuously. For the freenet Group, this means that capital commitment has been increasing for years: today’s 
higher-value smartphones are more expensive to purchase than the mobile phones of the past, and while 
cash outflows to acquire these devices occur before or when a contract is signed with the end customer, 
cash inflows from the mobile phone upgrade option are spread over the 24 months of the contract with the 
end customer.

  With this in mind, the Group has concluded a factoring agreement with a bank, which was first utilised in 
the first quarter of 2014. The agreement is a master agreement with an indefinite term. The sale of mobile 
phone option receivables is possible on a quarterly basis. The bank purchases the receivables with a defined 
del credere discount and it also bills freenet for interest and fees. The relevant risks (such as the risk of bad 
debt losses in particular) and opportunities are transferred to the bank, with the result that the receivables 
sold are derecognised in their entirety. The freenet Group continues to bear the risk of late payment, as well 
as being responsible for the collection and administration of the receivables sold (known as “servicing”).

  As at 30 June 2015, receivables in the amount of 54.3 million euros (31 March 2015: 60.2 million euros) have 
been sold and derecognised, but not yet paid for.

4.  In May 2015, a new promissory note loan with a total nominal value of 100.0 million euros was taken out. It 
consists of three tranches with terms of five to seven years and – to some extent variable – interest rates 
of between 1.05 and 1.79 per cent. 
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Transactions with related parties

5. The following major transactions took place between the Group and related parties:

In EUR ’000s
1.1.2015-
30.6.2015

1.1.2014-
30.6.2014

Sales of services

Joint ventures

FunDorado GmbH, Hamburg 205 172

Total 205 172

The following major receivables were due from related parties as at 30 June 2015:

In TEUR 30.6.2015 30.6.2014

Receivables from related parties

Joint ventures

FunDorado GmbH, Hamburg 81 76

Total 81 76

All transactions were based on market prices.

Other disclosures

6.  The underlying figure for the cash flow statement is the earnings generated by ongoing and discontinued 
operations before interest and income taxes (EBIT). The following table shows the way in which this EBIT 
figure is derived from the consolidated income statement:

Calculating the underlying figure for the consolidated cash flow statement

In EUR ’000s
1.1.2015-
30.6.2015

1.1.2014-
30.6.2014

Result before taxes on income 121,646 120,525

Interest payable and similar expenses 19,717 20,840

Interest receivable and similar income -457 -681

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)  
of continued and discontinued operations 140,906 140,684

7.  Our disclosures concerning fair values are as follows:
  The following overview, “Fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2015”, provides an explanation as to what significant  

parameters constitute the basis for the measurement of, firstly, the financial instruments measured at fair 
value and, secondly, the portion of the financial instruments measured at amortised cost, for which a fair 
value was able to be calculated. For the definition of the individual levels in accordance with IFRS 13, see the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements of freenet AG as at 31 December 2014.
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Financial instruments according to classes as of 30 June 2015 

In EUR ‘000s 

Valuation 
category acc. to 

IAS 39

Carrying 
amount

30.6.2015

Value approach

Fair value
30.6.2015

Amortised  
cost Cost

Fair value  
recognised in 
profit or loss

Fair value  
recognised  

in equity

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents LR 124,086 124,086 124,086

Total cash and cash equivalents 124,086 124,086 124,086

Other financial assets (measured at cost) AFS 503 503

Other financial assets (measured at fair value) AFS 1,023 1,023 1,023

Total other financial assets 1,526

Trade accounts receivable LR 452,181 452,181 452,619

Other non-derivative financial assets LR 28,668 28,668 28,668

Available-for-sale financial assets AFS 2,808 2,808 2,808

Non-financial assets n/a 8,286

Total other receivables and other assets 39,762 31,476

Liabilities

Trade accounts payable FLAC 373,248 373,248 373,248

Borrowings FLAC 624,396 624,335 649,774

Total financial debt within the scope of IFRS 7 624,396 649,774

Other non-derivative financial liabilities FLAC 61,935 61,935 61,935

Non-financial liabilities n/a 72,376

Total other liabilities and deferrals 134,311

Financial instruments not covered  
by the scope of IFRS 7

Pension provisions acc. to IAS 19 53,523 53,523

Provisions for employee participation programmes 
according to IFRS 2 3,190 3,190

Total financial instruments not covered  
by the scope of IFRS 7 56,713

Thereof aggregated by valuation categories acc. to 
IAS 39

Available-for-sale financial instruments AFS 4,334 503 3,831 3,831

Loans and receivables LR 604,935 604,935 605,373

Financial liabilities, measured at amortised cost FLAC -1,059,579 -1,059,518 -1,084,957
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Fair value hierarchy as of 30 June 2015

 
 There were no shifts regarding the levels.

  Borrowings allocated to level 3 of the hierarchy have increased by 99.2 million euros in the quarter under 
review primarily as a result of the taking up of the new promissory note loan. 

  Other financial assets are generally measured at fair value. Wherever a reliable estimate of fair value is not 
possible, the asset is valued at its acquisition cost. The shares that are valued at acquisition cost are not 
publicly traded and there is no active market for them. Furthermore, a sale is not currently planned. If there 
are indications that fair values are lower, these are used.

8.  The group of consolidated companies remained unchanged compared with the consolidated financial state-
ments for the period ending 31 December 2014.

9.  Based on an updated interest rate of 2.4 per cent (31 December 2014: 1.9 per cent) but with the other prem-
ises remaining unchanged, the pension provisions were reassessed as at 30 June 2015. Of the resultant 
amount of 6.5 million euros, 4.5 million euros were reported in consolidated other comprehensive income 
and the reduced amount of 1.9 million euros was reported in deferred income tax assets.

10.  As was the case in the 2014 consolidated financial statements, an average rate of 30.05 per cent (compara-
tive period last year: 29.85 per cent) was used to calculate the current and deferred income taxes.

11.  During the first six months of 2015, net debt increased by 73.7 million euros from 426.6 million euros to 
500.3 million euros. The payouts for the dividend distribution totalling 192.0 million euros and the interest 
payments amounting to 30.8 million euros were the significant factors increasing net debt. A contrary effect 
was generated primarily by the cash flow from operating activities totalling 151.2 million euros.

12. There were no events of significant importance after the balance sheet date.

In EUR’000s Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,808 2,808 0 0

Other financial assets 1,023 1,023 0 0

Trade accounts receivable 79,007 0 0 79,007

Borrowings -642,484 -418,308 0 -224,176

Total -559,646 -414,477 0 -145,169
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Segment reporting

13.  As its main decision-making body, the Executive Board organises and manages the company on the basis  
of the differences between the individual products and services offered by the company. As the Group per-
forms its business operations almost entirely in Germany, it has no organisation and management based 
on geographical regions. The Group was active in the following operating segments in the first six months 
of 2015:

 � Mobile Communications:
 �  Activities as a mobile communications service provider – marketing of mobile communications  

services (voice and data services) from the mobile communications network operators T-Mobile, 
Vodafone, Telefónica Deutschland in Germany

 �  Based on the network operator agreement concluded with these network operators, a range of the 
company’s own network-independent services and tariffs as well as a range of network operator tariffs

 �  Distribution and sale of mobile communications terminals as well as additional services in the fields 
of mobile data communications and digital lifestyle

 �  Rendering of sales services

 � Other/Holding:
 �  Rendering of portal services such as e-commerce/advertising services (largely comprising the offer 

of online shopping and the marketing of advertising space on websites), of payment services for end 
customers, as well as offering a variety of digital products and entertainment formats for download 
and/or for displaying and using on mobile terminals

 �  Development of communication solutions, IT solutions and other services for corporate customers
 �  Range of narrowband voice services (call-by-call, Preselection) and data services
 �  Rendering of sales services

  The “Other/Holding” segment includes other business activities in addition to operating activities. These  
primarily include freenet AG’s activities as a holding company (with the provision of intra-Group services in 
central divisions such as Legal, HR and Finance), as well as other accounting entries that cannot be clearly 
allocated. The segment revenue of 42.2 million euros reported for the “Other/Holding” segment in the first 
six months of 2015 (previous year: 37.6 million euros) is accounted for in the amount of 39.3 million euros 
(previous year: 34.4 million euros) by operating activities and in the amount of 2.9 million euros (previous 
year: 3.2 million euros) by the other business activities. The gross profit of 28.1 million euros reported for 
the “Other/Holding” segment in the first six months of 2015 (previous year: 25.1 million euros) is attribut-
able to operating activities in the amount of 28.5 million euros (previous year: 25.3 million euros) and to 
other business activities in the amount of -0.4 million euros (previous year: -0.2 million euros). The EBITDA 
of -8.3 million euros reported for the “Other/Holding” segment in the first six months of 2015 (previous 
year: -8.8 million euros) was generated by operating activities to the extent of 3.5 million euros (previous 
year: 0.2 million euros) and by other business activities with -11.8 million euros (previous year: -9.0 million 
euros). The EBIT of -13.9 million euros reported for the “Other/Holding” segment in the first six months of 
2015 (previous year: -13.7 million euros) is accounted for by operating activities in the amount of -1.7 million 
euros (previous year: -4.4 million euros) and by other business activities in the amount of -12.2 million euros 
(previous year: -9.3 million euros).
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Segment report for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2015

In EUR‘000s
Mobile  

Communications Other/Holding

Elimination  
of intersegment 

revenue  
and costs Total

Third-party revenue 1,469,126 31,885 0 1,501,011

Intersegment revenue 4,507 10,346 -14,853 0

Total revenue 1,473,633 42,231 -14,853 1,501,011

Cost of materials, third party -1,113,250 -10,011 0 -1,123,261

Intersegment cost of materials -7,190 -4,131 11,321 0

Total cost of material -1,120,440 -14,142 11,321 -1,123,261

Segment gross profit 353,193 28,089 -3,532 377,750

Other operating income 30,944 2,515 -2,028 31,431

Other own work capitalised 4,850 1,501 0 6,351

Personnel expenses -77,885 -21,877 0 -99,762

Other operating expenses -127,645 -18,625 5,560 -140,710

Share of results of associates accounted for using the equity method 0 57 0 57

Segment EBITDA 183,457 -8,340 0 175,117

Depreciation and impairment write-downs -28,639 -5,572 0 -34,211

Segment EBIT 154,818 -13,912 0 140,906

Group financial result -19,260

Taxes on income -10,522

Group result from continued operations 111,124

Group result from discontinued operations 0

Group result 111,124

Group result attributable to shareholders of freenet AG 110,616

Group result attributable to non-controlling interest 508

Investments in continued operations 12,685 2,383 15,068

Condensed interim consolidated financial statements: Selected explanatory notes in accordance with IAS 34



 freenet AG · Interim Report as of 30 June 2015 – Q2/2015  59

In EUR‘000s
Mobile  

Communications Other/Holding

Elimination 
of intersegment 

revenue  
and costs Total

Third-party revenue 1,413,938 30,808 0 1,444,746

Intersegment revenue 4,527 6,790 -11,317 0

Total revenue 1,418,465 37,598 -11,317 1,444,746

Cost of materials, third party -1,063,244 -8,463 0 -1,071,707

Intersegment cost of materials -4,277 -4,080 8,357 0

Total cost of material -1,067,521 -12,543 8,357 -1,071,707

Segment gross profit 350,944 25,055 -2,960 373,039

Other operating income 30,723 5,548 -4,375 31,896

Other own work capitalised 4,210 954 0 5,164

Personnel expenses -72,942 -21,860 0 -94,802

Other operating expenses -131,072 -18,625 7,335 -142,362

Share of results of associates accounted for using the equity method 0 148 0 148

Segment EBITDA 181,863 -8,780 0 173,083

Depreciation and impairment write-downs -27,456 -4,943 0 -32,399

Segment EBIT 154,407 -13,723 0 140,684

Group financial result -20,159

Taxes on income -6,023

Group result from continued operations 114,502

Group result from discontinued operations 0

Group result 114,502

Group result attributable to shareholders of freenet AG 113,978

Group result attributable to non-controlling interest 524

Investments in continued operations 9,117 1,769 10,886

Segment report for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2014
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RESPONSIBILITY 
STATEMENT

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles for interim financial 
reporting, the condensed interim consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, 
financial position and results of the Group, and the interim group management report includes a fair review 
of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a descrip-
tion of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of the Group for the 
remaining months of the financial year.

Büdelsdorf, 5 August 2015 
freenet AG 
The Executive Board

     Christoph Vilanek     Joachim Preisig             Stephan Esch
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6 August 2015¹ Interim Report as of 30.6.2014 – Second Quarter 2015

3 September 2015¹ dbAccess European TMT Conference, London, Great Britain

9 September 20151 Commerzbank TMT and Consumer Conference, Frankfurt, Germany

17 September 2015¹ UBS Best of Germany Conference, New York, USA

22 and 23 September 2015¹  Berenberg and Goldman Sachs German Corporate Conference, Munich,  
Germany

6 November 2015¹ Interim Report for the period from January to September 2015 –  
 Third Quarter 2015

 11 and 12 November 2015¹ Morgan Stanley TMT Conference, Barcelona, Spain

2 December 20151 Berenberg European Conference, Surrey Heath; Great Britain

1) All dates are subject to change.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Further information: Financial calendar
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freenet AG 
Hollerstraße 126 
24782 Büdelsdorf

Phone: +49 (0) 43 31/69-10 00 
Internet: www.freenet-group.de

freenet AG 
Investor Relations 
Deelbögenkamp 4c 
22297 Hamburg 

Phone: +49 (0) 40/5 13 06-778 
Fax: +49 (0) 40/5 13 06-970 
E-Mail: investor.relations@freenet.ag

The annual report and our interim reports are also available at: 
http://www.freenet-group.de/investor/publications/quarterly-annual-reports 
 
The English version of the Interim Report is a translation of the German version  
of the Interim Report. The German version of this Interim Report is legally binding. 

Current information concerning freenet AG and the freenet share is available on our website at:  
www.freenet-group.de/en.

 

If your mobile phone has QR-Code recognition software,  
you will be directed to the freenet Group website by scanning this code.

IMPRINT, CONTACT, 
PUBLICATIONS

Further information: Imprint, contact, publications
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